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Tuesday, September 21, 2010

--- On commencing at 9:32 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  The Board is convening this morning on the second day of the application by Hydro One Networks Incorporated for transmission rates for 2011 and 2012, a case designated as EB-2010-0002.

Are there any preliminary matters before we start?  Mr. Rogers.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, there are a couple of matters I would like to address, if I could.

First of all, dealing with this issue about the confidential documents which you ordered my client to file yesterday, there is one -- there was one inadvertent omission in one of the documents, and that is page 7 of the memorandum of February 11th, 2010.  It was not photocopied, and my friends did not receive it as part of the confidential package.

It deals with the distribution rate analysis and it will be produced, as I will explain to you in a moment.

As I told the Board yesterday, dealing with these confidential documents is problematic for the Board, I know that, and for all participants.  And in past cases, with this type of information, we have proceeded without having to redact the documents by having an in camera session.  And with the cooperation of my friends, which was forthcoming, to avoid the controversial material, we were able, I think in almost all instances, to make the in camera session public after it was over with.  They avoided the sensitive material.

I wasn't confident that might work quite that way in this case, so I have asked my client yesterday to go and see if they could redact these documents, and a good deal of effort was taken yesterday to do that, for reasons I am going to explain to you in a moment.  We do now have redacted copies available of all documents here in the hearing room this morning for distribution, in the hope that we can proceed with a public hearing dealing with them.

May I explain to the Board the problem with this redaction, with this company, so you understand the reluctance to do it?

The problem essentially, of course, is that the company may not selectively disclose financial information which has not been disclosed in the public domain through the established mechanisms.  In the case of Hydro One, there is not a problem in producing financial information dealing with the transmission company when those data are segregated for the purpose of this case, and they have made full disclosure of that up to 2012, which is the rate period under consideration.

But the problem with this company is that it is a company of many parts.  And there is Hydro One Inc., which is the parent company, which has as part of its cascade of other enterprises and companies Hydro One Distribution, Hydro One Transmission, Brampton Hydro, Hydro Remote and Hydro One Telecom.

And most of the data that -- in fact all of the -- I think all of the reports that were resisted in producing dealt with the Hydro One Inc. level.  So all of this data is combined in the Hydro One Inc.  And the difficulty here is that Hydro One Inc. has not published financial information beyond the second quarter of 2010.  It will be filing -- it will be disclosing its third quarter results I think in November of 2010.

So there is a problem in producing any information in this process in a public forum, beyond what has been published through the published reports up to the second quarter of 2010.

In addition, we have the problem of Brampton Hydro, which is not before the Board now.  Their figures are all combined in the data that we've -- in these reports that you have now received or will be receiving shortly, and then of course the remotes and -- the other company I mentioned, Hydro Remote and Hydro One Telecom is also in there.

So to make a long story short, it was necessary for the company to try and redact those portions of financial information dealing with Hydro One Inc. from 2010 forward, and for Hydro One Distribution from 2012 forward, because they have already filed material up to 2011.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.

MR. ROGERS:  So that is the reason why this has been such a difficult exercise, but it's been done.

And so we are now in a position to distribute these this morning.  We have extra copies for everyone here this morning, and I hope that we can proceed in the public forum, which will be much quicker and easier for everyone concerned.

Now, there is one other question I should deal with, I guess.  My friend, Mr. Shepherd, wrote a letter yesterday to me expressing some concern about whether or not full production has been made in these documents, and he enquired as to whether the Board materials for February 11th, 2010 is less fulsome than the Board materials for June 18th and November 11th, which -- all of this material is before you now.

I think his concern is that the memorandum of February 11th is much more concise and contains less information than the other presentations to the Board.  He wanted confirmation that nothing had been withheld, and an explanation.  And the answer to that is, no, everything has been produced.  That is the answer to his enquiry.

The second question was:  Why are they different?  The witnesses can probably answer this better than I, but let me take a crack at it.

They're different because they're intended for different purposes.  The memorandum of June 18th, 2009 deals with a recommendation to the board of directors concerning the 2010-2012 Hydro One Inc. business plan, so it is a significant document, quite thick.

The second document, November 11th, 2009, is a presentation to the board asking the board to approve the 2010 budget and the 2011-2012 outlook.  So that is a substantial undertaking, as well, and it is a fairly thick document.

The third document, February 11th, 2010, which is the thinner document that I think concerned Mr. Shepherd, is in support of a recommendation to the board that the company approve the updated 2010 budget and 2011-2012 outlook.

So it deals only with an update, and that is why it is a much smaller document, but I am instructed that everything that was presented to the board has been produced.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, my friend has responded to the first paragraph of my letter and not the second.

I understand his comment that February was simply a thinner package.  However, I also asked about May.  And what we're particularly concerned with in May is it appears that in all of these, there is a PowerPoint presentation from Mr. Struthers to the board.  That is not included in the May package.

And I will draw your attention, for example, if you look at the February package, page 10 of the PowerPoint -- I am not going to refer to anything in it, but page 10 of the PowerPoint is a long-term forecast.

And that appears to be, in that form, included in every one of these packages.  It is not in the May one, which of course would be the most current one and, therefore, the most relevant for us to look at.

Therefore, what I am asking is:  Did Mr. Struthers not make a presentation or somebody on his behalf make a similar presentation in May?  And, if not, what was different?

MR. ROGERS:  If you look at the memorandum of May 13th, 2010, sir, you will see that it is found at Exhibit I, tab 3, schedule 1, and it is a response to the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters' interrogatory.  It is a memorandum to the board dated May 13th, 2010 signed by Mr. Gregg, who is on this panel, and I am instructed that everything that was -- the full package has been produced to my friend and to everybody here.

If you look at this, you will see this just deals with a very narrow issue.  It deals with the approval of the Hydro One revised 2011-2012 transmission revenue requirement.  This particular case is revised.  You will see it explains how the revisions track through.  So that is the reason why it is smaller.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I take it, Mr. Chairman, Mr. Struthers did not make a financial presentation of a similar sort at the May meeting?  That was really my question.

MR. ROGERS:  I don't know.  I wasn't at the meeting, and there is -- there are no other documents that were produced for that meeting, as I understand it.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And there is a witness I think that can respond to that.

MR. ROGERS:  And Mr. Struthers will be here, and Mr. Gregg is here now.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is there anything further of a preliminary nature?  Ms. Lea?

MS. LEA:  I have one preliminary matter of an administrative nature.

Yesterday the unredacted version of the February 11th, 2010 documents was filed, but no exhibit number was assigned to that.  I would like to do that now.

So this is an exhibit number for the confidential, unredacted version, and I am going to give it an exhibit number from yesterday, as it was filed then.  So it would be KX1.4, the submission date of February 11th, 2010.

EXHIBIT NO. KX1.4:  UNREDACTED VERSION OF FEBRUARY 11, 2010 DOCUMENTS.

MS. LEA:  Mr. Rogers, was it your wish that the redacted copies of these documents now be assigned an exhibit number?  And referred to?  Yes.

So I think unless anybody has a problem with that, we will assign them a group exhibit number, K2.1.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  REDACTED VERSION OF FEBRUARY 11, 2010 DOCUMENTS.

MS. LEA:  We don't need an X designation.  These now can be on the public record in this form; am I correct, Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.  K2.1 for the redacted versions of each of these memoranda.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.

Does that exhaust the preliminary matters?

MR. WARREN:  I apologize, Mr. Chairman, for taking up air time, but I am a little bit unclear about what Mr. Rogers's intention is with respect to filing these redacted documents.  In reviewing all of these materials last night, including K4.1 –- KX4.1, it occurs to me that the only meaningful way to conduct a coherent cross-examination -- and I shouldn't presume that mine will be in that category -- the only meaningful way to conduct a coherent cross-examination is to do it with the entire document and all of the data.  To jump from data which can be disclosed in a public forum and that which can't be will end up with a dog's breakfast of a cross-examination.

So speaking personally, my preference would be that we do this in camera so that we don't stumble over things.

Is it Mr. Rogers' intention that all of the cross-examination be done on the basis of the redacted documents?

MR. ROGERS:  Well, that was my intention.  I thought I was trying to cooperate here, in doing all of this work yesterday afternoon so that we could have a public hearing.  That was my intention, that we would do the redacted documents and have it open to the public.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I guess what has happened occasionally in the past where we have had this kind of dilemma is that the Board has proceeded on an in camera basis and then released the transcript after review by the parties to make sure that nothing of a confidential nature was actually disclosed.

That is not the most convenient way of doing it, but I take Mr. Warren's point, that it may be difficult to kind of skate between the documents.

Does that -- does proceeding on an in camera basis present any -- other than the obvious logistical difficulties -- does it create any particular difficulties?  It is the path of greatest safety.

MR. ROGERS:  No.  No.  Apart from the obvious, no.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Are there any other submissions on that point?

MS. LEA:  I would just ask and repeat what you said yesterday, Mr. Chairman, that if counsel could indicate when they're getting near something, whether it is their entire cross-examination or a section of it, we would then be well informed as to when we have to go into camera.

The redacted documents, the complete set are on the desk behind me.

MR. ROGERS:  I would just point out, sir, that I believe there are probably people in the hearing room who have not signed the undertaking, so we have to be careful.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Indeed.

It seems to me that it may be useful to have as much of the examination as possible in the public forum.  When counsel get to areas that they expect are going to address matters that are of a confidential nature, advise the Board and we will go into an in camera session at that point for that portion of the cross-examination.

Once again, I would urge counsel, as much as possible, to keep as much as possible in the public record.  To the extent that it is necessary to refer to the specific details of the document, you know, that causes the requirement for an in camera session.  But if the point of your questioning can be achieved otherwise, that would much be preferred.

Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, my friend is proposing, I think -- my friend Mr. Rogers is proposing, I think, that these redactions be considered the confidential information in the documents, on the basis of a principle that all forward-looking information is confidential.

I just didn't want to let it pass as we're all agreeing that that principle is correct, because we don't agree that that is correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I understand that there may be disputes, and one of the reasons why I didn't order Mr. Rogers to produce a redacted version was because of the potential for further wrangling about what ought to be and what ought not to be redacted.

So this should, in some way, avoid that problem, because the core difficulty is avoided.

Do we have an order of cross-examination?  Mr. Alexander?

MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Chairman, can I just make one small point by way of a preliminary matter, just to put it on the record?

I did ask Mr. Rogers this morning, and he has undertaken to provide me with a copy of a coloured copy of Exhibit KX1.4.  I don't know if others wish that, but one is coming for me.

MR. ROGERS:  We are having -- Mr. Thompson's wish is our command, and we will have copies for everybody.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  May I just say one other thing, sir?  I don't want to complicate this beyond necessity, but as I mentioned earlier, one of the redacted -- I'm sorry, the unredacted copy of the February 11th memorandum omitted page 7 by accident.  That page 7 is in the redacted version.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  All right.

MR. ROGERS:  So now we have the redacted being more fulsome than the unredacted, but there it is.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  We still haven't called my panel first yet.  Before --

MS. LEA:  I'm sorry, Mr. Rogers.  I will need a copy of that to put on the -- as part of yesterday's exhibit, the missing page for the unredacted versions that we filed yesterday.

MR. ROGERS:  Can I do that at the break, sir?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Very good.  So the witnesses are now ready to be sworn.
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 1 - OM&A AND CAPITAL: DEVELOPMENT, GREEN ENERGY PLAN

Bing Young; Affirmed

Nairn McQueen; Sworn

Peter Gregg; Affirmed.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you, sir.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Rogers:


MR. ROGERS:  May I begin with you, Mr. Gregg?  I understand, sir, that you hold a bachelor of arts degree from Carleton University?

MR. GREGG:  I do.

MR. ROGERS:  And a master of business administration degree from the University of Western Ontario?

MR. GREGG:  Correct.

MR. ROGERS:  You began your career as a political advisor on Parliament Hill from 1994 to 1997?

MR. GREGG:  True.

MR. ROGERS:  Then worked with the office of the Minister of Transport in Ottawa from 1997 to 2000?

MR. GREGG:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  You worked, I see, with the Greater Toronto Airports Authority, as director of corporate affairs from 2000 to 2004?

MR. GREGG:  Correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And your present position is senior vice-president, corporate and regulatory affairs, with Hydro One Networks Inc.; is that correct, sir?

MR. GREGG:  It is.

MR. ROGERS:  You filed a curriculum vitae at Exhibit A, tab 19, schedule 1, Page 5.  Is that an accurate summary of your qualifications and experience?

MR. GREGG:  Yes, it is.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Gregg, I wonder if you could just tell us generally what areas of the evidence will you be dealing with this morning.


MR. GREGG:  Yes.  I would be pleased to.  I will be covering the areas related to overall corporate strategy for Hydro One Networks on the transmission side of the business, Green Energy Plan submission, general areas of shareholder relations.  I will also be dealing with the CWIP treatment on Bruce-to-Milton.  I will also be prepared to speak about general corporate policy issues within Hydro One, and, at a high level, I can talk about the development activities with the support of Mr. Young.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.

Mr. Gregg, have you ever testified before this Board previously?

MR. GREGG:  This is my first time.

MR. ROGERS:  Can I move to your colleague, Mr. McQueen?


Mr. McQueen, I understand that you hold a bachelor of engineering degree in chemical engineering?

MR. McQUEEN:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And you have taken postgraduate courses in chemical reactor design and environmental chemistry?

MR. McQUEEN:  Correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Your qualifications and experience are set out at Exhibit A, tab 19, schedule 1?

MR. McQUEEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. ROGERS:  They are an accurate reflection of your experience, I assume?

MR. McQUEEN:  Yes, they are.

MR. ROGERS:  Your experience appears to be quite broad.  I see that you began your career in 1972 with Dominion Foundries and Steel Limited in Hamilton as a project engineer?

MR. McQUEEN:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And then moved to Canada Packers from 1973 to '75 as a project engineer?

MR. McQUEEN:  That is also correct.

MR. ROGERS:  You worked for the Prince Albert Pulp Company in Saskatoon as project engineer for a time?

MR. McQUEEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. ROGERS:  And, as well, as you worked for Agra Inc., I see, as vice president from 19990 to 2000, vice President of engineering and project management services?

MR. McQUEEN:  Correct.

MR. ROGERS:  You began your employment with the Hydro group of companies in 2000, I understand?

MR. McQUEEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. ROGERS:  You are presently the senior vice president engineering and construction services?

MR. McQUEEN:  That is also correct.

MR. ROGERS:  I know you have appeared before this Board previously, Mr. McQueen.

MR. McQUEEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. ROGERS:  What areas of the evidence will you be dealing with, sir?

MR. McQUEEN:  I am here to deal with evidence regarding the ability of the company and the risks associated with delivering capital projects.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Young.

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Your curriculum vitae is filed at Exhibit A, tab 19, schedule 1, page 15.  Is it an accurate reflection of your qualifications and experience?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, it is.

MR. ROGERS:  Very briefly, let's just review them for the Board.  I understand that you hold a bachelor of applied science from the University of Toronto?

MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  You also have a master of engineering from that same institution?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  You began your career with the Hydro group of companies back in 1986 and have worked in various capacities since that time?

MR. YOUNG:  That's right.

MR. ROGERS:  And, yes, I see from 1986 to 2001 you worked with Hydro One Networks and its affiliated companies, but in 2006 you took a new post with the Ontario Power Authority for three years or so?

MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And there, you were director of transmission integration with the OPA?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  You returned to Hydro in 2009 as director of transmission system development?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  And that's the position you presently hold?

MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  What areas of the evidence will you be responding to, Mr. Young?

MR. YOUNG:  I will be responding to the areas of transmission and system development planning, including protection and control, and as well as the development OM&A portions.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much, sir.

Mr. Gregg, can you on behalf of the panel confirm that the evidence filed under the responsibility of this panel is an accurate reflection of the company's affairs, so far as you are aware?

MR. GREGG:  Yes, I can.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you, sir.  I have no examination in-chief.  The witnesses are available for questioning.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  Mr. Alexander.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Alexander:


MR. ALEXANDER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Before I begin, I will be referring to a Pollution Probe cross-reference book for panel 1.  I believe Board counsel has your copies.

MS. LEA:  I do.

MR. ALEXANDER:  While the book is being passed up, this simply contains material that notice was given of or material that is on the record, so I don't believe there is any objection to this and I would ask it be given an exhibit number.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MS. LEA:  K2.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  POLLUTION PROBE'S CROSS-EXAMINATION REFERENCE MATERIAL BOOK.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Basil Alexander and I am counsel for Pollution Probe, on whose behalf I will be asking some questions today.

Just so you know, the focus of my cross-examination will be on the upgrades to address Toronto's current short circuit constraints.  I accordingly suspect, based on what you have just said, Mr. Young will be answering most of the questions, but I will leave it up to the panel to decide who is the most suitable to answer the questions.

So if I could take you to Exhibit K2.2, the Pollution Probe cross-examination reference book for panel 1, to tab 1, page 1 of the book.  Do you have that, panel?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, we do.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And this appears to be a copy of an Ontario clear -- Ontario Clean Air Alliance fact sheet dated February, 2010 entitled "Toronto on the electricity edge.  Fixing Toronto's electricity security of supply problems".  Do you see that?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And if I could take you to the paragraph that I've marked on the first page under "Introduction", and I am just going to read that paragraph into the record:
"The City of Toronto is exposed to two serious electricity security of supply challenges.  First, any loss of the Leaside electricity supply path would lead to a 300 megawatt (MW) power shortage in downtown and central Toronto. Second, in the event of a provincial or eastern North American blackout, Toronto's hospitals will not be able to operate at full capacity."


Would you agree with that statement?

MR. YOUNG:  I can comment on the first statement, and that would be true in the event of an extreme contingency whereby the entire supply to the Leaside station was interrupted.  I can't comment on the second sentence, as I don't have sufficient information or understanding about the supplies to hospitals, in particular, in the downtown area.

MR. ALEXANDER:  If the hospitals were to have distributed generation in the form of combined heat and power, or CHP, that would be equivalent to their electricity requirements, that would allow them to operate at full capacity; is that not true?

MR. YOUNG:  I think any generation of any type that could provide support to the hospitals would provide the adequate supply facilities.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And on July 5th, I understand that fire knocked out the Manby transformer station; is that correct?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  What was the resulting loss of load in Toronto in megawatts?

MR. YOUNG:  The loss of load at the time in the central and downtown areas was around 900 megawatts.  Now, I would like to just clarify that while there was a fire on a specific piece of equipment, that did not directly lead to the outage.  It was the smoke and debris from that that resulted in multiple elements within that station operating which resulted in the loss of the load on that day.

MR. ALEXANDER:  If I could have you turn to page 2 of the tab 1, which is the second page also of the document book, do you have that?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, I do.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And there is a paragraph marked under "Security of Supply Solutions" which I will just read.
"There are two potential solutions to keep Toronto’s lights on if the Leaside supply path is lost:
"1. Build a third transmission line to serve downtown and central Toronto at an estimated cost of approximately $600 million.
"2. Install 300 MW of small-scale combined heat and power plants in downtown and central Toronto."


Would you agree with that statement?

MR. YOUNG:  These statements, I believe, came out of the OPA's Integrated Power System Plan filed in 2007, which identified that one option for the mid- and long-term supply to central and downtown Toronto would be a third transmission supply path, and that alternatives to that could potentially be a local generation roughly in the order of about 300 megawatts.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And are these options also possible solutions to keep the lights on, if there is a loss of the Manby supply path?

MR. YOUNG:  These solutions largely address the shortages when there is a loss of the main supply from Leaside.

Presently, the system has adequate capability to back up a major loss of event at Manby and to provide the necessary restoration, as was demonstrated on the incident earlier this year.

MR. ALEXANDER:  So just so I understand, when you used the number 900 megawatts before, that was the loss of load.  Then was all of that compensated back through the backups, or was there part of that that was not able to be compensated back?

MR. YOUNG:  All of the load was restored from the Leaside system on that day.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Okay.  All 900 megawatts?

MR. YOUNG:  The 700 of it was restored from the Leaside system, and another 200 megawatts of it was restored from the 230 kV supply.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Okay.  But these options would also assist as another backup in order to assist with the Manby supply, I guess; is that fair?  This would be another option to assist, in addition to the backups you just suggested?

MR. YOUNG:  It would provide more flexibility.

MR. ALEXANDER:  If I could have you turn to page 4 behind tab 1, which is also page 4 of the document book, do you have that?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, I do.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And if I can take you to the paragraph under "Technical barrier" which I've marked, and I will just read that:
"Currently, as a result of short circuit –-"

Sorry, let me try that again:

"Currently, as a result of short circuit constraints at Hydro One's Leaside, Manby and Hearn transformer stations, only 80 megawatts of CHP can be installed in downtown and central Toronto."


Would you agree with that statement?

MR. YOUNG:  Because of the short circuit limitations, there is a limitation to the amount of generation that you can connect, whether it is CHP or any other type of generation, renewable or otherwise.

The amount of available generation capacity is approximately in that range.  I believe it is a little bit less now than 80 megawatts.

MR. ALEXANDER:  But it is in that range?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And if I could take you now to tab 2 of the cross-examination reference book which has been marked as Exhibit K2.2, this is an -- this is an excerpt of pages 29 through 33 of Exhibit A, tab 11, schedule 4.  Do you have that?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, I do.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And if I could take you to the second page there, which is page 30 of the excerpt or page 8 of the document book.

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, I have it.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Just going by the table that you have there, under table 2 under item number 1, it appears that Hydro One is proposing to spend $152.7 million to upgrade the short circuit capacity at Leaside, Hearn and Manby for -- at the Leaside, Hearn and Manby transformer stations, and the target in-service year would be 2012/2013; is that correct?

MR. YOUNG:  That is correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Would this upgrade address the short circuit issues that are currently limiting the installation of distributed generation in Toronto?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, it would.

MR. ALEXANDER:  So this would also allow hospitals to install distributed generation, such as combined heat and power, to allow them to operate at full capacity in the event of a blackout?

MR. YOUNG:  It would allow anybody to connect generation.  If I may also point out that for the purposes of backup, although there are short circuit limitations right now, it does not prevent any -- anybody from connecting off-grid generation for the purposes of securing their supply.  It is only when the generation is on-grid that there is a short circuit issue.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Correct.  I believe I understand that.  And I think what I am focussing on is combined heat and power, which is usually on-grid supply.  That is not usually an off-grid solution for various options.

So I understand your point, but combined heat and power, as I understand that it is implemented, is usually implemented on an on-grid basis for various reasons; is that fair?

MR. YOUNG:  That's fair.  My point was just to say that if you need security of supply, it doesn't necessarily have to be combined heat and power.

MR. ALEXANDER:  How many megawatts of combined heat and power would be able to be installed in downtown and central Toronto after the short circuit upgrades are completed in 2013?

MR. YOUNG:  In the filed evidence, we indicate that up to 300 megawatts of additional capability in the Manby and up to 300 megawatts of capability in the Leaside could be installed following these upgrades.

Now, one caveat to that is that the impact of short circuit is a function of where generation is located.

So those two numbers may not necessarily be additive.

MR. ALEXANDER:  So if I could just take you back to tab 1, page 1, which is the Ontario Clean Air Alliance fact sheet; do you have that?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, I do.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And figure 1 is a map, which according to footnote 16 is from the Navigant Consulting report that was prepared in the Toronto -- that was prepared for -- prepared regarding -- central and downtown Toronto distributed generation final report, which was prepared for Toronto Hydro-Electric and the OPA.  And I believe it was filed before the Board before.

I am just focussing on the map in the areas.  So just using what you just told me, number 1 would be the Leaside area, and that would be that bounded area, more or less, is what you're referring to?  That would be --

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.  There are two green areas.  So the eastern green area, if you will, consists of both the Leaside station designated as -- with the number 1 circle, and then the Hearn station designated by the number 2 circle.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Okay.  So then the Leaside area is the one that is connected to the number 1, obviously, I would presume?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Then the Manby area would be the area that is connected to the number 3, I would presume?

MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Okay.  Now, you also indicated that it would not be additive between the two.  Do we have any idea what the number would be for the entire area?

MR. YOUNG:  It is difficult to say at this time.  It would depend on where the generation was ultimately cited.

MR. ALEXANDER:  But it would be 300 megawatts in each area?

MR. YOUNG:  Up to, yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Up to.  Okay.

And if I could take you now to tab 3 of the Pollution Probe cross-examination reference document book, which was previously marked as Exhibit K2.2, page 12 of the document book; do you have that?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, I do.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And this is a one-page excerpt from Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 3, appendix C, specifically page 1.  Do you see that?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And this appears to be a summary of the letters of support for the Toronto area short circuit upgrades for Hearn, Leaside and Manby; correct?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And the letters aren't included in here, since they're included in the evidence.  But just to go through it, it appears that there are 13 organizations who have provided letters of support in support of these upgrades?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, that's right.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And just going through the ones I have marked, some of the more notable ones appear to be the City of Toronto; correct?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Redpath Sugar Limited?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.  I believe these letters were filed with the evidence.

MR. ALEXANDER:  No.  I just didn't include them as part of this excerpt.

MR. YOUNG:  Oh, I see.  Yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Sunnybrook Health Sciences Centre?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Toronto Community Housing?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And the University Health Network?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, I see that.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Thank you, panel.  Those are my questions.  And with the leave of the Board, I would ask to be excused.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Any redirect, Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  No.  Thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  We are next.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Crocker.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Just two preliminaries before we begin.  We served notice -- we sent notice around on Sunday that we would be referring to some documents that aren't in the record, and we've got copies of all of those documents.  And I think we've...

One was the report of the Board in EB-2009-0152.  One was a Board Policy Statement in EB-2010-0059.  One were the -- one was the filing requirements in G-2010-0059.  And the last was an excerpt from the Decision with Reasons in the Hydro One Networks Inc. transmission revenue requirement case, EB-2006-0501.

MS. LEA:  Mr. Crocker, did you want any of those given an exhibit number at this time and passed up to the Panel?

MR. CROCKER:  Sure.  I won't be referring to them right away, but we may as well do it now.  It is simpler.

MS. LEA:  All right.  So we will begin, then, with -- the first document you mentioned was the EB-2009-0152 Report of the Board; is that correct?  That's "The Regulatory Treatment of Infrastructure Investment in Connection with the Rate-regulated Activities of Distributors and Transmitters in Ontario."


MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MS. LEA:  I think I am at K2.4?

MR. THUESSEN:  K2.3.

MR. LEA:  K2.3.  Thank you, Mr. Thiessen.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.3:  EB-2009-0152 REPORT OF THE BOARD, "THE REGULATORY TREATMENT OF INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT IN CONNECTION WITH THE RATE-REGULATED ACTIVITIES OF DISTRIBUTORS AND TRANSMITTERS IN ONTARIO."


MS. LEA:  The second document referred to -- perhaps I am a little confused.

Okay.  EB-2010-0059, "Board Policy Framework for Transmission Project Development Plans."


I will pass this up to the Panel.

MR. THIESSEN:  That is K2.4.

MS. LEA:  K2.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.4:  EB-2010-0059 Board Policy Framework for Transmission Project Development Plans.

MS. LEA:  I'm sorry, Mr. Crocker, there appears to now be a stack of something else.

All right.  The third document referred to, then, was EB-2006-0501, a previous decision with reasons for Hydro One Networks dated August 16th, 2007.  K2.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.5:  Decision with Reasons for Hydro One Networks, EB-2006-0501, dated August 16, 2007.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It would be helpful in future if this kind of distribution could happen before we are in the hearing.  Thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  I envisaged a buffet where people would just pick it up, but they didn't.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, they're ordering from the menu and...

[Laughter]

MS. LEA:  Were there only the three documents, Mr. Crocker?

MR. CROCKER:  I think there were four.

MS. LEA:  The fourth one is what?

MR. CROCKER:  Ms. Grice advises me that two of them were stapled together, so, yes, only three.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  The other preliminary matter, Mr. Chairman, is that we've cross-referenced all of the references that we wanted to make to the confidential information, and none of it has been redacted.  None of it deals with dollars, and so we don't have to go into camera at all.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We will just ask you to be vigilant, and Mr. Rogers I am sure will be vigilant, as well, so that we don't slip up here.

Please proceed, Mr. Crocker.  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Crocker:


MR. CROCKER:  On the basis of the qualifications which we heard earlier, I think most of my questions will be to Mr. Gregg, but, once again, I leave it to the panel to decide who is most appropriate to answer them.

I want to understand, first of all, with respect to the Green Energy Plan, where the initiative for the plan came and how that has been followed through with time.

So, as I understand it, the letter of the minister of September 21st, 2009 -- and I am sure it is in a number of different places in all of this, but the reference I make is to Board Staff Interrogatory 98.  It is there, but I am sure it is other places, as well.  But that is what initiated the development of the plan, as I understand it; is that correct?

MR. GREGG:  Yes, it is.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Now, then, with more recent developments, there was a letter that the minister sent to the OPA on May 7th.  You are familiar with that letter, are you not?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.  I think it was filed in association with Interrogatory No. 98.

MR. CROCKER:  Yes, it is there, as well.  All right.

And that letter asks the minister -- that letter asks the OPA to submit an updated transmission expansion plan updating the September 2009 instructions to Hydro One and to consider the sequencing necessary to meet the needs of the FIT program and the Korean consortium.  Do you agree with that?

MR. GREGG:  I do.

MR. CROCKER:  The minister expected that the plan will contain recommendations for development sequencing, priority transmission projects and an implementation approach that would ensure that key government commitments are met; correct?

MR. GREGG:  I see that in the letter, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  He goes on to say:
"I understand that such advice can only be provided in anticipation of the economic connection test, which is currently being established as part of the FIT program."


Okay?

MR. GREGG:  Correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Original letter, then the letter of May 7th, although is it to the OPA, clearly relates to your Green Energy Plan.  You would agree with that as well, wouldn't you?

MR. GREGG:  I would.

MR. CROCKER:  And the letter also asked that OPA provide their response or their advice with respect to this by June 11th, 2010.  Do you agree with that?

MR. GREGG:  I see that in the letter, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Do you know whether there has been anything forthcoming from the OPA in response to that request?

MR. GREGG:  I am not aware of anything that is.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Also as part of this interrogatory is a letter of the minister to Hydro One, to Ms. Formusa at Hydro One, dated May 5th.  You got that one, as well?

MR. GREGG:  I have that letter, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Maybe I will just read this, starting at the second paragraph:
"As you are aware, the Province of Ontario has keenly felt the impact of the recent recession.  This has been reflected in the government's 2010 budget.  We are aggressively pursuing internal cost savings to meet our fiscal targets.  At the same time we are committed to ensuring government agencies and Crown corporations across the public sector are equally focussed on delivering cost savings that are under their control.
"Bearing that in mind, I would request that Hydro One Networks carefully reassess the contents of its transmission rates application prior to filing with the Ontario Energy Board.  I would like Hydro One Networks to demonstrate concerted efforts to identify cost saving opportunities and focus your forthcoming transmission rate application on those items that are essential to the safe and reliable operations of your existing assets or projects already under development and approved by the Ontario Energy Board, or are critical to the connection of renewable generation projects that have been identified by the Ontario Power Authority as part of the government's green energy agenda."


Just to stop there, that last little piece, as I understand it, is directed toward your Green Energy Plan.  Is that the way you understood that?

MR. GREGG:  It doesn't specifically reference our plan, but it does -- yes, I can see how they're related.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I don't think we need to read any further.

Okay, let's turn to the prefiled evidence, then, and look at A-11-4.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think we are there, Mr. Crocker.

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I am as well.

If you could look, please, to page 3 -- and I am just providing some context to some questions which are going to follow -- page 3 of 47, under the heading 2:

"Hydro One continues to consult collaboratively with the Ontario Power Authority in defining the scope of work associated with the Green Energy projects."


You would agree with that, and that is a continuing and ongoing circumstance?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  You also say at the bottom of that page at line 24:
"Hydro One's strategy is to begin the preliminary development work on priority Green Energy projects, with the highest need as identified in consultation with the OPA, based on the information presently available."


You would agree that that is also a continuing situation, and that statement accurately reflects the present objectives of Hydro One?

MR. GREGG:  It does.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Let's go back to the interrogatory then, please, 98.  Your...In response to the interrogatory in part (d), you say -- and that is on page 2 of 2, in the last paragraph on that page:

"In recognition of the OPA's pending update to the minister and of a letter from the minister to Hydro One dated May 5, Hydro One began to suspend the development work on all Green Energy projects.  In his May 5 letter, the minister asked Hydro One to 'focus forthcoming transmission rate application on projects that are critical.'"

Then further down in that paragraph:

"Hydro One is waiting for project-specific direction from the minister, which is expected after the OPA provides the requested information to the minister."


Can I take it from this that despite what you and I just agreed to a moment ago, that you have, Hydro One has suspended work on the Green Energy -- on Green Energy projects?

MR. GREGG:  Yes, that is correct.  Once we received this letter, we took action to suspend those projects.

MR. CROCKER:  And just so that we are clear, "took action to suspend" means you suspended work on projects?

MR. GREGG:  Yes, we did.  They take some time to wind down when they are in action, but yes, we did suspend them.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  How is that state of circumstances -- that is, the suspension of work on the Green Energy Plan -- focussed in your May 19 application?

I know that is a broad and general question, but tell me how you have sort of taken that into consideration.

MR. GREGG:  Sorry, can you restate the question?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  How is the fact that you have suspended work taken into -- how should we consider that?  How significant a factor is that in the context of your May 19 application here?

MR. GREGG:  I don't think it is significant in the context of this application, primarily because any of the development activities that would have occurred on those projects would be going into an already approved deferral account, so it would not have an impact on the actual rates that we're speaking about in this application.

MR. CROCKER:  However, it would affect, would it not, the spending levels that are being requested in the application?

MR. GREGG:  Again, any of the spending levels directed to those –- the development activities for those projects in our Green Energy Plan would be going into a deferral account and are not part of what we're asking for in this application.

MR. CROCKER:  I understand what you're saying, but what I am -- what I would like you to answer is in the absolute, regardless of the deferral account, this would -- your decision to suspend work would affect the spending levels?  In other words, you would be spending less?  That --

MR. GREGG:  Yes.  On those specific --

MR. CROCKER:  -- seems obvious.

MR. GREGG:  On those specific projects, that is correct.

MR. CROCKER:  I assume that we don't see any of that in the prefiled written material?  That is, the spending that is reflected in the material, in the application, doesn't reflect the fact that you have stopped work?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. GREGG:  I think, again, there is a portion that goes into the deferral account, development for the specific projects.  There is also the Hearn, Leaside and Manby station work and short circuit work that we broadly refer to as Schedule-B projects, that are reflected in the application.  I think -- have I answered your question?

MR. CROCKER:  No.  Could you -- I'm sorry, could you give me the answer again, please?

MR. GREGG:  Perhaps I'll ask you to repeat your question, then maybe it will allow me to better answer it.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  The question was:  The fact that you have suspended work is not reflected in the prefiled material on the Green Energy Plan, which is before the Board?  That was my question.

MR. GREGG:  Well, I believe it has -– it does reflect.  Bing, do you have...

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.  If I may try that.  The major projects in the minister's letter to Hydro One of September 21st, 2009, in the Schedule A, the development work associated with those projects have been suspended as a result of the May 5th letter.

So far, for those projects, only development work has been conducted, and those expenditures are recorded in the deferral account.  To the extent that expenditures have been made on those, they are identified in this filing.

Now, there are other projects in Schedule B of the minister's letter -- as Mr. Gregg referred to -- the Toronto stations, Leaside, Hearn and Manby.

In addition, there are some expenditures for the inline breakers, which are also in Schedule B, as well as P&C facilities, which are also in Schedule B, which are in the test years that we're seeking in this application.

MR. CROCKER:  How is that affected by the minister's letter again, just so that I understand your answer?

MR. YOUNG:  We believe those projects need to proceed.  The Toronto stations --

MR. CROCKER:  But they're not -- excuse me for interrupting -- but they're not at the moment; correct?

MR. YOUNG:  Sorry, they're not at the moment?

MR. CROCKER:  Proceeding.

MR. YOUNG:  No, they are proceeding.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

MR. YOUNG:  Okay?  The ones that are not proceeding is the development work on the major projects identified in the Schedule A.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And just so that I understand, the OM&A expenses are going into a deferral account; correct?

MR. GREGG:  Yes, the development activities.

MR. CROCKER:  What about the capital costs?

MR. GREGG:  Capital of all of those projects would occur beyond the test years in this application.  The only thing that would be -- would have been envisioned at the time would be development activities, which would be OM&A costs.

MR. CROCKER:  If you can look at -- just so that we understand the dollars we're talking about here -- if you can look at Exhibit I, tab 3, schedule 12.  I lost track of whose interrogatory that is.  I think maybe it is CME.

MR. GREGG:  Which number, sir?  Twelve, did you say?

MR. CROCKER:  Schedule 12, page 2.  Do you have it?

MR. GREGG:  We do.  Mr. Young is getting his copy, but we're looking at one now.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  You let me know --

MR. GREGG:  We have it, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  The second line in that chart is entitled "Total Green Projects in Millions of Dollars."

MR. GREGG:  Correct.

MR. CROCKER:  And these are capital costs, capital expenses, I believe?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Do you still plan, then, my question is, to spend the $126.7 million in 2011 and the 2012 -- I'm sorry, and the $198.1 million in 2012?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.  These are the capital expenditures that we have identified in 2011 and in 2012.

MR. CROCKER:  How does that reconcile with your statement in response to the Board's interrogatory that you are stopping work?

MR. YOUNG:  We are stopping work on the development of the major projects in Schedule A.  Most of these projects, with the exception of project D34 and D35, are all part of the schedule B that I was referring to earlier.  And there are expenditures in the test years, as well as in-service additions in the test years, for some of these projects.

MR. CROCKER:  Going back to your letter -- I'm sorry, going back to the answer to the interrogatory, you said in that last paragraph that you are going to suspend all development work on all green energy projects?

MR. GREGG:  I believe what is being referred to there, which we broadly refer to as Schedule A projects, if you go back to the September 21st letter --

MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MR. GREGG:  -- of 2009, it is the major transmission projects to enable green.  That is what we're referring to where we have suspended work.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

In an interrogatory of CCC, you were asked -- I don't think you need to turn it up.  You were asked to explain how, if at all, the Green Energy Plan was revised between March 1 and May 19, and your answer was that there were no material changes.

MR. ROGERS:  I wonder if my friend can let me know where that interrogatory can be found so we can have a look at it.

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  It is I-10-35.  Okay?

MR. GREGG:  Yes, we have it.

MR. CROCKER:  Do you agree with me that your answer was that Hydro One's answer was that there were no material revisions to the plan?

MR. GREGG:  That is correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Do you still maintain that position in light of your response - Hydro One's response - to the Board's Interrogatory 98 that I read to you several times before, that you are suspending development work?

MR. GREGG:  Yes, I do still feel that is a true statement.  Again, I think the important thing to remember in this application is that what we are seeking for -- when you refer to the previous interrogatory of capital expenditures, what we're referring to is the schedule B projects that will be proceeding and that are included in this application, but we clearly stated that subsequent to the minister's letter to the OPA, we have suspended development activities on the Schedule A projects.

And I just want to further clarify that any of the development costs that would have been incurred for those projects would be directed to an already approved deferral account and not impactive on this filing.

MR. CROCKER:  Are you suggesting -- go ahead, sorry.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. CROCKER:  In light of my questions, your answers, I am still left wondering what level of spending that you are asking the Board to approve, then, in this application.

Is there a change?

MR. GREGG:  No, there is not.

MR. CROCKER:  You would agree with me, would you not, Mr. Gregg, that the Ontario's FIT program -- the OPA's FIT program impacts on your Green Energy Plan?

MR. GREGG:  It does.  It does, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And in the Board Interrogatory 99, they ask you to identify all projects in the plan, Green Energy Plan - It is just over the page from the one we were just referring to - whose timing and nature depend on the results of the FIT program.  And your response was -- this is question and answer B:
"The OM&A development costs that are included in the test years are driven by the minister's letter of September 21, 2009 and the target in-service dates in that letter."

Then you give a reference.  Any of that changed with respect to your stopping work, development work, in the Green Energy Plan?

MR. GREGG:  No.  I think it is clearly stated in part (b) of our answer that the development costs, OM&A development costs that are included in the test years in this application, were driven by the September 21, 2009 letter.

MR. CROCKER:  And that hasn't changed?

MR. GREGG:  There were costs incurred based on the September 21st letter.  We proceeded to begin development work, and it was only after we received the subsequent letter -- or the OPA received the subsequent letter that we suspended those projects.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  How did you take the FIT results or the results of the FIT program into account in the plan?

MR. YOUNG:  With respect to the FIT applications that have received contracts from the OPA, we are proceeding with all of the connection work associated with that.

With respect to all the FIT applications that have not received contracts and are sitting on the -- what is referred to as the "reserve process" in the OPA's FIT process, we are waiting for the OPA to conduct its economic connection test, to signal what additional transmission reinforcements are required in order to connect those additional projects.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I am correct, I think, in suggesting that this is an added feature to the letter of September 21st which impacts your spending?  That's correct, isn't it?

The minister's letter of September 21st, 2009, is an added element of what is going on in Ontario, which should affect your -- the way you develop your Green Energy Plan, the way you spend your money?

MR. YOUNG:  Sir, can you clarify what you mean by "added"?  Perhaps I am not just understanding the question.

MR. CROCKER:  All of the FIT issues -- this is probably so obvious that -- all of the FIT issues come after the September 21, 2009 letter, don't they?  The whole –- the program, the -- all of the issues, all of the -- certainly all of the details of the FIT program come after?  Can't be considered in the September 21st, 2009 letter?

MR. YOUNG:  Well, the FIT program did come after the September letter.

MR. CROCKER:  So it is an added feature, then?

MR. GREGG:  I wouldn't say it is an added feature.  Perhaps it is added detail, an added level of detail that would come after.

But if you go back to the September 21st letter, those projects in Schedule A were identified as where expected renewable generation would materialize in the province, and the purpose of those projects was to unlock that potential, to ensure that the adequate transmission capability was there.

MR. CROCKER:  It provides you with a whole bunch more detail of what you need and where you need it, doesn't it?  That is what the FIT program was all about?

MR. GREGG:  It does.  It will tell us where contracts have been given by the Ontario Power Authority.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  So it is a fairly significant feature.  It should be, I think, a fairly significant feature of how you develop your plan.

MR. GREGG:  Yes, it is.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  All right.  Let's see if we can provide a bit more detail of this, so that I can, once again, understand a little bit better of where and how you are spending.

Can we... All right.  The Board Staff asked you, in their Interrogatory 101, information on the FIT program, and you provided the chart in attachment 1 on page 1 of 3 and -- 2 and 3, three pages of a chart?

MR. GREGG:  Correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay?  In -- in Interrogatory I-1-100 -- I don't know where that is.

MR. ROGERS:  Just before 101.

[Laughter.]

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  So it is.

You said in answer to question (b) -- you reference Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 101 for the transmission availability test, the discussion we had before.

Then you say:
"OPA awarded 2,421 megawatts of contracts to 184 applicants."


Is that what -- is that what is reflected in the three pages of charts that I just mentioned in 101?  Is that 2,421 megawatts reflected there?

MR. GREGG:  I will take a quick stab.  And I'm going to kick it over to Bing, but I believe in the three pages it refers to what was released and contracts released under the transmission availability test.

And just to be clear, the transmission availability tests for the contracts given out where existing capacity is available -- was available at that point.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MR. GREGG:  The ECT projects would go through a process where the OPA will run to determine what capacity needs to be added.

But, Bing, I think you had something to add?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.  In the Board Staff IR I-1-101, the second attachment shows the list of projects for which FIT contracts were not awarded.  And those will be the projects that will be awaiting review in the ECT process.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And that is also three pages of projects?  Okay.

How many megawatts is reflected there, do you know?

MR. YOUNG:  In the attachment 2?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.

MR. YOUNG:  Totalling those numbers, I believe it is approximately 6,500 megawatts' worth of projects.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Do you know off the top of your head how many applicants we're talking about?

MR. YOUNG:  I would have to count them.

MR. CROCKER:  That will take too long.  We can do that and mention it in argument.

Just so that you understand where these questions are coming from, we're trying to understand a little bit more clearly how your present application and how your present plan is responding to the specifics that are reflected in the Green –- in the FIT program, both existing contracts and those that are awaiting the economic connection test.

So I want to ask you some more questions about detail that you may or may not have.

MR. YOUNG:  Okay.

MR. CROCKER:  Can you tell me, of these projects that are on those three pages, the attachment 2, how many -- what are wind, what are solar, what are other?

MR. YOUNG:  I believe in attachment 2 it identifies for each specific project the nature of the generation.  It's in the column labelled "Project source."


MR. CROCKER:  Right.  No, no, I understand that.  Maybe -- I'm sorry, my question may not have been as clear as it might have been.

I understand that, but have you summarized this information and can you tell me what percentage of this is wind and what percentage is solar and what percentage is other?

MR. YOUNG:  I don't have those details with me.

MR. CROCKER:  It will help us understand and refer to this in argument if you can do that.  I don't expect you to do it now, of course, but if you can undertake to do that and provide us with that information, it would be helpful.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If you want that, I think it is readily available from the document, Mr. Crocker.  So I think you can do that analysis yourself, rather than asking the applicant to do that.  I think that is fair.  Thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  In the context of your response to the Board's interrogatory, again, indicating that you are suspending development work, how, if at all, do these three pages of FIT issues, FIT programs, FIT contracts -- except they're not quite contracts yet -- how do they affect the plan, if at all?

MR. YOUNG:  Which three pages are you referring to?  The ones we have --

MR. CROCKER:  Attachment 2.

MR. YOUNG:  Attachment 2?  As I said before, those projects or the transmission projects needed to address those projects in attachment 2 will be the subject of the OPA's ECT process review.

MR. CROCKER:  Right, I understand that.

And remind me.  Maybe I missed what you...  Has the work with respect to that been suspended?

MR. YOUNG:  The development work for projects which might address some of those projects at the attachment 2 have been suspended, again, pending verification from the OPA that it makes sense to proceed with some of those projects.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  How does that affect, then, your proposed capital spending?

MR. YOUNG:  I believe, as Mr. Gregg mentioned before, those major projects, again, in Schedule A, were not affecting the -- in a significant manner, the capital expenditure levels in the test years in this filing.

MR. CROCKER:  So are you saying -- just so that I understand that answer, are you saying to me that you are not asking for any capital for those projects in this application?

MR. YOUNG:  Not to be included in the revenue requirement, no, but we are including projects in the schedule B.

And if I can direct you to IR -- or Exhibit I-1-104, in our response there we identified the in-service capital additions in the test years related to largely the schedule B projects.  In fact -- I'm sorry, in fact all of the schedule B projects.

MR. CROCKER:  They're reflected in the 11.4 and 9.6 millions of dollars?

MR. YOUNG:  Well, the in-service additions is 11.4 in 2011.  That translates into -- it impacts the rate base by 9.6 million.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MR. YOUNG:  I am not the financial expert to explain how that gets translated.

MR. CROCKER:  But that is your reference?  That is the reference you are giving us?

MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.  And if it will be of additional help, if you refer to the IR Board Staff I-1-107, there is a further breakdown of the projects in schedule B which make up those numbers.  It is on page 2 of the interrogatory.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Chairman, I might point out there is also some information at Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 99, which I think addresses my friend's issue.

MR. CROCKER:  Just, once again, so that we understand -- so that I understand what you are asking for, in light of the impact of the FIT program and its evolution, and your 2,421 megawatts and your suspension of development work, do the numbers still line up?

Are you still asking -- I just want to make sure that I understand whether you are still asking for the same thing from the Board.

MR. GREGG:  We are.  And, again, I would direct you to IR No. 99, Board Staff IR 99, page 2, that paragraph there that says the projects included in this table, the table above, they are forecast to go into service in the test years described in Exhibit A, tab 11, schedule 4.

Those really are what Mr. Young has referred to previously as the work at the Hearn, Leaside and Manby stations, and also in-line circuit breaker work, and also protection and control work.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Just to confirm, are your priorities still the same with respect to Schedule A projects, as well?

MR. GREGG:  We would not know at this point.  We suspended work on Schedule A projects subsequent to the letter to the OPA.  We are awaiting that direction back from the OPA to the minister, and we would expect to have further communication beyond that from the minister himself.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I wonder -- I suppose under the circumstances, I can understand why you decided to suspend work.  But in terms of an approach to planning, you would agree with me that it is not the kind of optimum planning that you would recommend -- that you would endorse, stopping and starting -- I mean, starting and stopping, I suppose?

MR. GREGG:  I think I would characterize it as an evolution over time.  I am not a planner.  Perhaps Mr. Young would want to address the planning question.

MR. YOUNG:  I mean, in this particular situation it is perhaps not ideal.  I mean, planning is an ongoing process, as you mentioned, but it also would not make sense to be doing significant development work on projects which may not be identified as being required.

So until such time as -- and especially these projects which are large, and even on the development phase can have significant dollars, we just think it is prudent to hold off until we get more direction from the OPA's ECT process.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Just one last question with respect to this area, and then it may be an appropriate time to break.

Are you still, though, not asking for a level of OM&A spending which doesn't reflect the fact that you are suspending work?

MR. GREGG:  The level of spending that we have requested in this application, if you are referring to Schedule A work, Schedule A projects, was driven out of the September 21st, 2009 letter to us to proceed with the development work on the 20 projects listed in Schedule A.

We made a decision to pursue the development work based on that letter.  We incurred costs that we feel are prudent costs, considering the in-service timelines also attached to that schedule, and the length of time that we know it takes to receive approvals, to have adequate First Nations consultation, to do the necessary environmental assessment work, to examine options, to examine routing options, all of that, we proceeded on the development work on the priority projects in that list.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I just have one more question, Mr. Chairman, and then I will be finished with this area.  If I could --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  How much more do you actually have, Mr. Crocker?

MR. CROCKER:  Quite a bit.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Quite a bit more?  Okay.

MR. CROCKER:  Quite a bit more.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So you have one more question, then we will break.

MR. CROCKER:  Could you turn, please, to Exhibit A, tab 11, schedule 4?  I am looking at the chart on page 46.

MR. GREGG:  Yes, I have that.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If we look just at cash flow, total costs, 35.7 million for 2011, 46.7 for 2012, are you suggesting that those numbers stay the same or change?

MR. GREGG:  Generally, as a suite of projects, as I referred to -- investment in this area as being an evolution.  While projects specific there have been suspended, we do feel that there is enough work that will be required for us to ensure adequate transmission capability for the connection of green, renewable generation to the system.

So while there may be a bit of a time-out on some of those projects, based on subsequent direction from Minister Duguid, we do feel that the level of spending is appropriate, based on what we have seen come out of the transmission availability test and what we have seen in terms of the appetite for feed-in tariff contracts.

We feel that the level of spending is appropriate, but also recognize that the projects may evolve over this time period.

MR. CROCKER:  Do you have any sense as to how long this, as you've called it, time-out might be?

MR. GREGG:  I don't.  I note that in the letter the minister sent to the OPA, he had asked for the advice back on June 11th, but I don't know.

MR. CROCKER:  Just to go back to that, the OPA hasn't provided a response yet, and it is now September; correct?

MR. GREGG:  To my knowledge, that's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If this time-out is extended, it could be possible, could it not, that these numbers aren't reasonable anymore?

MR. GREGG:  Well, we feel they are reasonable.  We feel there is -- I think everyone has seen the appetite for green generation contracts in the province.  It is our obligation, as the majority transmitter in the province, to ensure that adequate capacity, adequate capability is there on our grid to accommodate all of that new generation.

As I mentioned before, a lot of this development work requires a long lead time, to make sure we have the appropriate approvals, to do the proper consultation, to acquire property, to acquire materials.

And the prudent thing for us to do is to get ahead of that and ensure that we are not a barrier to the Green Energy Act.

MR. CROCKER:  But just to follow up on something Mr. Young said, these projects, not all of these projects may go ahead now.  You would agree with that, wouldn't you?

MR. GREGG:  These specific projects?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.

MR. GREGG:  I would say that could be correct.

MR. CROCKER:  And that still doesn't... okay.  Well, I suppose we can all draw our own conclusions from that.

MR. GREGG:  Could I just add perhaps one -- I just want to remind that a previously approved deferral account was established, where development activities for these projects would go into that deferral account.

So while we have provided information in our filings and in our interrogatories, I just want to clearly point out that that spending is not impactive on rates for the test years we're talking about here today.

MR. CROCKER:  But it may be, eventually.  It will be, eventually.

MR. GREGG:  But we are speaking about –

MR. CROKCER:  No, I understand.

MR. GREGG:  -- impact for this application.

MR. CROCKER:  I understand.

Mr. Chair, this may be a good time to break.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

We will break for 15 minutes and come back at 11... well, 15 minutes from now.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 11:09 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:30 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Crocker.

I think your microphone is not on, Mr. Crocker.  Thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you. I have two follow-up questions to what I was asking, on the advice of colleagues, who suggest that the issues may still be unclear.

Can we assume, Mr. Gregg, that no work on Schedule A projects will occur during the test years?

MR. GREGG:  Work has occurred on Schedule A projects to date.  We have suspended that work.

We anticipate there will be development work on transmission projects to enable connection of green generation to the grid.  As we discussed before, Schedule A projects may change as a result of the OPA's revised advice, but we fully expect that with the take-up we have seen on feed and tariff contracts, that there will be a very large amount of green generation that will require connection.

So while the names of the projects may change, we feel there is a large volume of work required to ensure that we have adequate transmission capacity.

MR. CROCKER:  I'm not sure you answered the question.  Was the answer to the question a yes or no?

MR. GREGG:  We foresee development work on transmission projects to connect green generation in the test years, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  I assume at the moment you don't know what that might be?

MR. GREGG:  Specifically, we will rely on the advice of the OPA back to the minister.  But again, directionally, if you go back to the September 21st, 2009 letter, there's a degree of understanding of where potential for renewable generation exists in the province.

So the projects recognize the realities of geography and where we expect there will be green generation.  So while the projects may change in some of their specifics, we do feel there will be projects of a similar nature that we will be spending development -- spending on development work in the test years.

MR. CROCKER:  In light of what you said, do you say that there will be the same level of OM&A spending in the test years while -- particularly while the Schedule A projects at the moment are not going ahead?

MR. GREGG:  We feel generally, yes.  But, again, I want to remind you that the development work, OM&A costs will be going into a deferral account and will not impact the test years.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Thank you.

I want to briefly take you -- I am going to move into a different area.  I want to briefly take you back to the September 21st letter and just ask you one particular -- point out to you one particular issue in that letter.

MR. GREGG:  Okay.

MR. CROCKER:  The letter says, and I think it is on -- I didn't turn it up.  I think it is on page 2.  The letter says you are to, Hydro One is to identify projects as appropriate where the planning, development and implementation of the project would be better accomplished by a qualified third party other than Hydro One.


You are aware of that?

MR. GREGG:  I am aware of that portion of the letter, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  In interrogatory I-8-1 by Great Lakes Power, they ask you...

MR. GREGG:  Yes, I've got that.  I think you're referring to, yes, I-8-1.

MR. CROCKER:  They ask you whether you had considered which specific projects would be better developed and implemented by a party other than Hydro One and, if so, which ones; and if not, why not.

And your answer was you have not yet determined that?

MR. GREGG:  That is correct.  Part 2 of our response says that.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Can you tell me why not?  I mean, why -- what I am asking you is:  Why haven't you directed
-- why hasn't Hydro One directed its mind to that?

MR. GREGG:  All of the projects that were attached in Schedule A of the September 21st letter, you will understand that a large amount of development work, early development work, is required, and it is required to better understand all of the intricacies of such a project.

We identified seven projects at that time to pursue development work, and only I think as you get to a certain level of understanding of these projects are you going to be able to better judge what may be done by others better than yourselves.

And so we did not get to the stage where we had made that determination.

MR. CROCKER:  Do you know what factors would go into making that decision?

MR. GREGG:  It would be a number of factors, but the point is that we did not get to that stage in our deliberations.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I would like to take you to the confidential material, not been redacted.

MR. ROGERS:  In that case, Mr. Chair, I suppose we will have to go in camera.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If Mr. Crocker can ask his questions in such a fashion that we are not violating the important elements of confidentiality, then I think we can proceed.

MR. ROGERS:  Agreed.

MR. CROCKER:  Let me see if I can do that.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  Okay, could you turn up the November 11th material, please?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.  Is there a particular page?

MR. CROCKER:  Sixteen.

MR. GREGG:  Yes, I have that.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Look at the first two bullets.

MR. GREGG:  I don't see bullets on page 16.

MR. CROCKER:  I may have sent you to the wrong...

I'm sorry, my mistake.  It has been redacted.  I didn't ask the question so it doesn't matter, but it has been redacted.

Let me tell Mr. Rogers what my question would be, and then we can decide whether it can go forward.  So let me...

MR. ROGERS:  First of all, Mr. Chair, I don't have the right document.  There are no bullet points on my...

MR. CROCKER:  I will take you to the right document.  I'm sorry, give me a second.

MR. ROGERS:  I have it.  It is the partnerships ... Well, I wish to be cooperative.  I don't think this is a major point here.  This deals with Hydro One's view of these partnership arrangements going forward.  The dollar amount here, it talks about how much --

MR. CROCKER:  I am not interested in the -- I don't intend to ask about the dollar amounts.

MR. ROGERS:  I will trust my friend to be discreet here, and let's see how far we go.

MR. CROCKER:  Mr. Gregg, look, please, at the -- do you have the reference that I sort of ham-handedly gave you?

MR. GREGG:  I believe so.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

MR. GREGG:  Does it state –-

MR. CROCKER:  The highlights of –-

MR. GREGG:  The 10-year plan?  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  Okay.  Look at the first two bullets.

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay?  I am not interested in the dollar values mentioned in either of those two bullets.

Would you not agree with me that there is a recognition here of the need for partnerships and situations where partnerships might fit?

MR. GREGG:  What I think this document reflects at the time was a general business planning assumption, that if we were to see a large number of the capital-intensive projects with very aggressive in-service dates happening essentially at the same time, that one strategy may be to approach partnerships on those capital-intensive projects.

That is probably about the level that I can probably get into it here.  You may also want to have a discussion with panel 4 on this subject.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  But just to make it clear, this is a recognition, is it not, that you have considered circumstances where a partnership might be possible, and work?

MR. GREGG:  We certainly considered the possibility of partnerships consistent with the September 21st letter, but we did not designate any projects.

MR. CROCKER:  Without going into the specific partner -— the specific projects indicated, the second bullet indicates specific projects, doesn't it?

MR. GREGG:  It does.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Can you turn up, please, EB-2010-0059, Board Policy?

MR. GREGG:  I can.  Yes, I have that, sir.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And just to provide a bit of context -- but I won't go into the document in detail -- this is the Policy of the Board for a framework for new transmission investment in Ontario; correct?

MR. GREGG:  That is correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  The third bullet on the first page indicates the Board's recognition of the advisability -- and I will state the -- read the bullet:

"Support competition and transmission in Ontario to drive economic efficiency benefits of ratepayers."


You would agree with me, would you not, that is the Board suggesting it is a good idea in certain circumstances for certain values?

MR. GREGG:  That is certainly one of the points they made in the paper, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If you could go, please, to the evidence at C1, tab 2, schedule 4.

MR. GREGG:  Yes, sir.

MR. CROCKER:  Page 10, table 1.

MR. GREGG:  Yes.  I have this.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Is it fair to say -- if I understand this table properly -- that Hydro One proposes to work on all but three of these projects?

And I am -- and I am suggesting that project number 5 and projects number 19 and 20 are the only ones where it seems, from this, that you don't intend to do any work.

MR. GREGG:  I think that the reflection of -- from those projects is that the in-service dates -- maybe Mr. Young can help me with that -- the in-service dates would be further out.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.

MR. GREGG:  So work was not reflected on this sheet.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Ultimately, then, you may want to do the work for all of these projects, then; is that what you're saying?

MR. GREGG:  Perhaps, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Then it is pretty clear that for all of these projects -- I was giving you the benefit of the doubt and giving you three -- but all of these projects, you haven't considered whether the work would be better done by a third party?  Certainly not at this stage?

MR. GREGG:  I think it is fair to say we have given the subject area consideration, but we have not designated any projects pursuant to the September 21st letter as projects that would be better done by other parties.

MR. CROCKER:  Certainly none of these?

MR. GREGG:  Correct.

MR. CROCKER:  But you have asked for development money for these?

MR. GREGG:  Correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Do you not think that by spending development dollars on these projects, Hydro One gets an advantage to any other -- any third-party transmitter who might be able to better perform any of these projects than Hydro One?

MR. GREGG:  The salient point here, again, pointing back to the September 21st, 2009 letter, we were urged to begin the development work on a list of projects, and we did just that.

But, again, subsequent to that as direction changed, we have suspended development work on those projects at this time.

MR. CROCKER:  I understand that.  But that still doesn't answer my question, which is:  If you spend development dollars on these projects, don't you get an advantage to third-party transmitters?

MR. GREGG:  Well, I think it is a matter of timing here too, where I think you're referring to a -- more of a competitive transmission selection process of August 26th, 2010, where, when we began this development work, it was almost a full year in advance of that.

And I think -- I am not aware of a letter being written to any other transmitter at the time to ask them to begin development work.

MR. CROCKER:  And I think it is probably fair to presume that no other developer -– no other transmitters have done any development work.  They certainly haven't gotten the funding for development work.

MR. GREGG:  I am not aware of any, no.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I want to ask you -- I want to move on again and ask you -- move into another area with respect to the Green Energy Act.

Can you please turn up Exhibit I, tab 9, schedule 22.  That is an AMPCO interrogatory.

MR. GREGG:  Did you say schedule 22, sir?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.

MR. GREGG:  Sorry, which schedule?

MR. CROCKER:  I, tab 9, schedule 22.

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  The issue here was spending, and historical spending.

MR. GREGG:  Correct.

MR. CROCKER:  And if we look at the table under (A), we can see that in 2007 Hydro One underspent $152.1 million - that's correct, isn't it - capital expense?

MR. GREGG:  Total, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And that in 2008, it underspent 70.2 million?

MR. GREGG:  That is correct.

MR. CROCKER:  And the 2008 spending, although it isn't underspending, isn't contained in this graph -- or chart, I'm sorry.  It is in the prefiled evidence at D1, tab 3, schedule 1, page 4.

MR. GREGG:  Can you repeat that last...

MR. CROCKER:  D1, tab 3, schedule 1, page 4.

MR. GREGG:  Yes, I have it.

MR. CROCKER:  This is underspending -- I said 2008.  I'm sorry, 2008 isn't in the chart.  This is for 2009.

MR. GREGG:  2009, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Underspending of 18.7 million; do you see that?

MR. GREGG:  I do.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And 2010 is on the following page.

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  These are projections, but you envisage underspending of 127.6?

MR. GREGG:  Correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I suppose we could say that your ask has exceeded your grasp, but my question is:  What confidence, in light of this history, do we have that you will be able to spend as you have requested?  And depending on your answer, we can go, once again, to the confidential information where I suggest that you recognize this as an issue, that Hydro One recognizes this is an issue.

MR. GREGG:  Well, I recognize that the evidence does show that while some projects may not have gone into service as originally planned, in general, we have taken great effort to ensure that we have improved our ability to deliver on our work plan.

And if I -- if you show over the same time periods, sir, that you were referring to, of how much actual was delivered between 2007 and 2009, we did increase from a total of 559.5 - I am referring to Exhibit 1, tab 9, schedule 22, page 2 - increased from 5589.5 to 917.8.  A lot of effort has gone into effect within the company to ensure that we have the ability to execute this work.

I think Mr. McQueen can probably add to that, but I also want to point out that, as you know in this business, there are a number of factors that could potentially inhibit our ability to put a project into service in any given year.

The one that I would like to highlight, the one that I am most familiar with, is seeking approvals from the various entities, and I will give you an example, perhaps, on Bruce-to-Milton.

That Bruce-to-Milton, it took us approximately one year beyond what we had originally anticipated to receive environmental assessment approval, and it just reflects the ongoing complexity of gaining these approvals and putting these projects into service.

But perhaps I could turn it over to Mr. McQueen to talk more about our work execution.

MR. McQUEEN:  Yes.  So as Mr. Gregg mentioned, the -- we have faced challenges in delivering a number of projects.

I would draw your attention to the chart you referred to for 2009.  The variance is approximately 2 percent on $1 billion, which is a fairly small percentage.

And in 2009, in particular - and you will see notice of this in the confidential material - we faced challenges with the hiring and development of protection and control engineering staff.

Protection and control is a challenge, because it is the heart of the entire system.  Particularly when we go into smart grid and the developments required to support distributed generation, there is a huge component of protection and control.

Then we couple that together with the unfortunate fire that took place in the Pickering switch yard that potentially encumbered the operation of Pickering units A1 and A4, which was obviously unplanned for and required a huge response from us and from others in order to correct that problem.

That did impact a number of projects that we were working on for several years.  In fact, it is only within the last couple of months that we actually were able to commission the final bits and pieces of the fix for that project.

So I would submit that we did, indeed, suffer in terms of work execution during the reference years as a result of that issue, and certainly in 2009 that was a major thing.

2010, the underage here is almost entirely due to the delay in the cash flow on the Bruce-to-Milton project, as Mr. Gregg referred to, as a result of the delays in getting the approvals.  And I am sure you may be aware that we are yet to get the Niagara Escarpment Commission appeal dismissal that we need in order to really complete the project.

So that approval process has been difficult for us in 2010.

With respect to the issues of what are we doing to ameliorate the ability to do work, actually, in the confidential material for November, there are several significant passages in there that explain all of the actions that management is taking, from hiring programs, developing new degree sets with different universities, working with immigrant organizations, and also a significant amount of outsourcing work that we've done to a number of consulting engineering companies that you would all recognize.

MR. CROCKER:  Without directly going to that confidential information, you would agree with me that, in general, as well as with respect to the specifics you've mentioned, there is an acknowledgement periodically throughout that it will be difficult to achieve -- to do the work that has been requested and approved?

MR. McQUEEN:  I would agree that we make reference, as prudent managers would, to the challenges that we face in running our business and the actions that we are putting in place in order to address those challenges.

And I think our record would show that we have been quite successful over the last number of years in increasing our ability to deliver more and more work that is put before us.

MR. CROCKER:  I would like to talk to you about Bruce-to-Milton.  I would like to first have you refer to K2.3.  I think I have the right exhibit number.  It is EB-2009-0152, the report from the Board on the regulatory infrastructure investment in connection with rate-regulated activities of distributors and transmitters in Ontario.

MR. GREGG:  K2.3, I think.  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  I think it is K2.3, yes.  Just so that it is clear, I want to talk to you about CWIP.

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Turn, please to page 21, would you?

MR. GREGG:  I have that, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  The Board sets out there seven factors which should be taken into consideration when alternative mechanism -- rate-base mechanisms are being proposed?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay?  I won't refer to them.  They're there.

I want to go back and see how Bruce-to-Milton fits.  Okay?

MR. GREGG:  Mm-hmm.

MR. CROCKER:  Dealing with the -- I am just looking at the number -- bullet point 2:  "The public interest benefits of the project and of granting the alternative mechanisms requested," that is one of the factors the Board thinks should be considered.  You would agree with that?

MR. GREGG:  Yes, I do.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Looking at that, could you turn up, please, A-11-5?

MR. GREGG:  Yes, I have that.

MR. CROCKER:  And it is page 6, sorry.  Your last paragraph on -- I'm sorry.  Yes, your last paragraph, starting on page 17.

You are talking about one of the benefits of CWIP to Bruce-to-Milton and you say it will provide a smoothing or a phased-in effect of the rates, reduce your borrowing costs, to the benefits of ratepayers due to the resulting improved cash flow.  Okay?

Now, let me just see if I understand what you are saying.

It will provide smoothing, because there won't be as significant a spike, if I could put it that way, in the rates being charged once the costs of Bruce-to-Milton are factored in, if some of them are prepaid?  That's what you're saying, isn't it?

MR. GREGG:  Partially.  We are also saying -- and I might point you, sir, to Interrogatory No. 122.  It is Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 122, that goes into what we feel are the public interest benefits of CWIP treatment for Bruce-to-Milton in a good level of detail.

Really, we point out there, the first part, the rate-smoothing effects.  We also talk about the lower lifetime costs and reduction of borrowing costs, and also the risk-mitigation benefits of using a CWIP approach.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  But my description of what the smoothing effect is, is correct, isn't it?  What --

MR. GREGG:  It also, sir, will essentially avoid the build-up of capitalized -- we refer to as AFUDC, which is the cumulative funds used during construction.  Avoids the build-up of those, that then become capitalized once the project gets in service and earn a return.

So it is avoiding that, which has an effect of smoothing the rates.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And the rates are smoothed because your customers -- clients of AMPCO, some -- would be asked to prepay some of these costs, basically?  That is, the smoothing comes from money from their pockets?  That's correct, isn't it?

MR. GREGG:  Rather than what was, before, the conventional approach of waiting until the project was in-service, yes, we would be asking for the construction work in process to be added as the project comes into service, rather than waiting until it is complete.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  And one of the other ancillary benefits to the smoothing is that it will decrease your borrowing requirement; correct?

MR. GREGG:  Correct.

MR. CROCKER:  It is possible, is it not, that in order to direct money from your customers' pockets, our client's pockets, they may have to increase their borrowing to allow them to conduct other parts of their business?  That is a possibility, is it not?

I don't expect you to know their businesses --

MR. GREGG:  Yeah, I'm not sure I could answer that question.

MR. CROCKER:  -- carefully enough to know that, but that is why I phrased the question that way.

MR. GREGG:  I'm not sure I can answer that question.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  Assuming that that is the case, I would also assume that Hydro One's ability to borrow would be at a lower rate than your customer's ability to borrow would be?

MR. GREGG:  Again, it is an assumption you're making.  I'm not sure I can answer that.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  Assuming that, I don't understand how -- particularly in light of your customers who are members of my client -- how the public interest benefits from CWIP in this case.

MR. GREGG:  Well, I think, sir, as I pointed out previously -- and again, in Interrogatory 122 -- we go into how, in this case, on Bruce-to-Milton, how ratepayers would benefit from the CWIP treatment on Bruce-to-Milton.

We have discussed the rate-smoothing effects of not capitalizing, avoid the capitalizing of AFUDC build-up by using CWIP is, indeed, a benefit.

Also, there we go into the lower lifetime revenue requirement on both an undiscounted and discounted basis.

And we also talk at the end about the potential for risk mitigation, that if a project were to be delayed even further, as you've spent money and are paying interest and carrying costs on that money over a delay, it just further compounds the problem of capitalizing that AFUDC.

So I think we have provided the evidence that shows, in this case, with the specific numbers for Bruce-to-Milton, that in all cases that the ratepayer would come out with a net benefit using a CWIP approach.

MR. CROCKER:  Using the American context here, has Hydro One considered lowering your request for return on equity in response to your request for CWIP?

MR. GREGG:  No.  We have not.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Can you give me any sense as to where would -- where Hydro One proposes to use the revenue that CWIP would produce?  Why do you need it?

MR. GREGG:  Sorry, can you rephrase the question?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  CWIP, if CWIP is applied and accelerated cost recovery is applied, you are going to have revenue that you otherwise wouldn't have.

I want to know whether you have given any thought to where you would -- how you would use it.  Why do you need it?

MR. GREGG:  The reason -- I think you're referring to the fact that we would be earning a return on that, using a CWIP approach.  Is that your -- the basis of your question?

MR. CROCKER:  Well, I thought my question was pretty clear.  Answer the question as I put it to you, and then if...

MR. ROGERS:  Well...

MR. GREGG:  I am just a little confused by your question.

MR. CROCKER:  Well, it would provide you with -- let's take it step-by-step, then.

If you are granted an accelerated cost recovery, you will have -- Hydro One has revenues that it would otherwise not have?  It would have later, but not now; correct?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.  It is a timing issue.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  My question is:  Why do you need it now, as opposed to needing it later, I suppose?

MR. GREGG:  Well, again, the reason we are proposing this, partially because it is a tool that is now available to us through EB-2009-0152, and also I should remind you, sir, that back in 2006 -- perhaps one of my colleagues can refer me to the proper document, but in 2006 we originally did ask for a CWIP treatment on Bruce-to-Milton.

But at that time, the CWIP tool was not available from the Board.  It came into place subsequent to that, so we were not granted approval at that time.

And I think more specifically, to answer your question around the timing issue of when we get the revenue, I mean, it is only just that.  It is a timing issue.  But the real driver for this is the benefit to ratepayers from using a construction work in progress approach.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  So we've talked about the benefits already, but I suppose, then, if I can paraphrase your answer, your answer is you want it because you can; correct?  You are asking for it because you can?

MR. GREGG:  We wouldn't be proposing the approach would it not be a benefit to ratepayers.  I want to underline that.  This is a benefit to ratepayers using the CWIP approach.

Yes, it is true that it is a tool made available to us by this Board, and other transmitters, I would presume.

So when it was not available in 2006, we had suggested, like other jurisdictions, that perhaps it should be available back in 2006.  We were told it was not.

Subsequent to that, it became a tool to be used in Ontario.

MR. CROCKER:  When did you make your section 92 application with respect to Bruce-to-Milton; do you know?

MR. GREGG:  I am trying to remember the exact date.  I believe it was -- was it the fall of 2007?  I think it was fall of 2007.

MR. CROCKER:  Did you ask for CWIP then?

MR. GREGG:  No.  It was in a proceeding in 2006 that was in advance of our section 92.

MR. CROCKER:  Yes, I know that.  Did you ask for it along with your section 92 application?  I don't think you did.

MR. GREGG:  We did not.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Going back to the report of the Board, you would agree with me - if you could look, please, at page 10, summarizing the first two paragraphs under 3.1 - that the Board prefers conventional mechanisms over, in this case, CWIP, and that you have to persuade the Board that there are extraordinary reasons why CWIP should be granted -- accelerated recovery should be granted?

MR. GREGG:  I'm not sure I would use the word "prefer" as you used it.  It says the conventional mechanisms continue to be appropriate, but it also says that:
"In the event that a utility considers that the conventional mechanisms are inadequate in connection with a proposed investment, the utility may apply for one or more alternative mechanisms in accordance with the framework set out... below."


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Go over the page, then, to page 11 and look at the beginning of the second paragraph under 3.1.1:
"The Board has traditionally held that a utility may earn a return only on an asset that is 'used and useful'."


MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And you would agree with me that the Board has mechanisms to deal with unforeseen issues, the z-factor and other issues.  Okay.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  To be fair to the witness, Mr. Crocker, I think z-factor treatment is a mechanism that is available in an incentive rate environment, and this company, in this area of its business, is not subject to an IRM program.

MR. CROCKER:  I understand.

Are there any exceptional risk -- maybe I shouldn't jump ahead.  Let's go back to the factors, I guess.

One of the factors, the one, two, three, four, fifth bullet -- one of the factors to be considered is whether, in this case, an accelerated cost recovery should be granted are the risks or particular challenges associated with the completion of this project.

Other than the delay that you described and for the reasons that you have described, what are the other risks, if any?

MR. GREGG:  Yes, I am happy to do that.  Any project of capital-intensive nature covering a large length of the province - in this case, it's a 182-kilometre line - will see a number of risks.

One of the most significant risks is ongoing First Nations' consultation risk.  We have engaged with I believe it is six First Nations and Métis communities on this project.  We have done, I think, a very good job of consulting with First Nations, as is required in the Constitution of Canada, and have developed good relationships there.

But as I think you will know, that First Nations are exerting their rights, their unique rights.  We have -- one of the bands that we have been consulting with on the Bruce-to-Milton project is also a band that was involved in some direct action that stopped construction on the Niagara Reinforcement Project approximately four years ago.

Again, it was not a dispute with Hydro One.  Our relationship was then, and is now, a good relationship, but the fact remains that that project has yet to be completed as a result of First Nations activity happening in that area.  And just to underline that, again, that First Nation is involved.  It is a community that we are required to consult with on the Bruce-to-Milton project.

Mr. McQueen also mentioned the Niagara Escarpment Commission appeal hearing that took place earlier this spring.  We are still waiting for a decision on that appeal.  So while we received approval originally, unimpacted landowners have brought appeal to that commission, and that potentially adds to a delay.

So while I believe we have done a very good job of managing this project, keeping it to the time lines as we originally planned, there are always intervening -- or often intervening events that add risk to the delay of the project.

MR. CROCKER:  Have you identified, in any of the material that I have looked at - and I haven't seen it - a real concern as it relates to Bruce-to-Milton of that kind of risk?

You continually refer back to the project that you have just described.  You don't talk about that kind of risk specifically with respect to Bruce-to-Milton.  I assume it doesn't exist.

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me.  I think that is unfair, Mr. Chairman.  I do believe there is a reference in the material that's been filed that talks about this risk.

MR. GREGG:  Yes, I believe -- I am trying to remember where it is in the material.

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  The risk is certainly -- I am not suggesting it isn't.  Anyway, let's move on.  Let's not stick with that.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  He's certainly saying it now.

MR. CROCKER:  Have you described -- put it another way.

I don't think you have described, with respect to Bruce-to-Milton specifically, a manifestation of that risk.  That hasn't -- that risk hasn't slowed you down yet, has it?

MR. GREGG:  I would disagree with that statement.

I believe it has slowed us down.  Again, pointing back to the environmental assessment approval, that took approximately a year longer than originally anticipated.  That approval was impacted by, again, not our requirement to consult, but the government's requirement to adequately consult with First Nations.

So, yes, it has been reflected in the evidence.

MR. CROCKER:  How long did you anticipate, did you plan, for the environmental approval process?

MR. GREGG:  Seven months.

MR. CROCKER:  I've been involved in environmental approval projects that have taken three years.  I think that probably –-

MR. GREGG:  Well, I think if you --

MR. CROCKER:  -- maybe you underestimated?

MR. GREGG:  No, I think -- well, we filed our environmental assessment within our originally developed timeline.  So we met our own internal timeline.

But it took a year to get the decision back once we filed our application.  That is the point I am making.

So it wasn't a delay on our part, and it wasn't any requirement for any additional information on our part.  It was just a delay in receiving the approval.

MR. CROCKER:  Can you turn to the Board Staff Interrogatory I-1-121, part (b)?

MR. GREGG:  I've got that, sir.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  You're asked, Hydro One is asked what your current anticipated in-service date is, and your response is:

"The project is successfully tracking the schedule.  Hydro One anticipates meeting the December 31, 2012 in-service date."


MR. GREGG:  That is correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just a note to the parties.  Mr. Quesnelle happens to sit on that case and is not prejudiced in any way by hearing information in this public forum with respect to his role in making that decision, but just for your comfort, Mr. Rogers, so that you know that Mr. Quesnelle is seized of that matter and will be making a decision with respect to those issues.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So if you feel uncomfortable at any point, I expect you to express that.  Thank you.

Mr. Crocker?

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.

Factor 7 of the factors that the Board sets out is whether the utility is otherwise obligated to undertake the project.

You've been given a Section 92 approval for this?

MR. GREGG:  That is correct.

MR. CROCKER:  And so there is no question but that Hydro One will be undertaking the project.  It is well underway.  That is not an issue, is it?  That is not an --

MR. GREGG:  We are underway on this project, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Mr. Chairman, I don't know what your plan is.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  How much longer do you think you have?

MR. CROCKER:  I have a bit more, but I will -- it will -- I am almost finished this area, and then there is a couple of other areas I want to talk about, other projects, and CWIP in other projects.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.

MR. CROCKER:  Perhaps I can finish this next piece in five or 10 minutes, and then...

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That would be satisfactory.  Thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I can go through this issue in detail, but if we agree initially on this point, I won't have to.  So let's see if we can agree, and if not....

[Laughter.]

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's a perfectly appropriate approach, Mr. Crocker.

MR. CROCKER:  You've reduced your -- you, Hydro One, has reduced your capital budget from March to May; correct?

MR. GREGG:  Correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  That means -- probably means that your borrowing requirements will be less; correct?

MR. GREGG:  I think that is probably a question to be more appropriately presented to panel 4 when our CFO is on the stand.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Your -- your capital obligations are reduced; correct?

MR. GREGG:  I would say generally that is true, but again, I'd ask you to speak to panel 4, who would have more specifics on that.

MR. CROCKER:  What I am suggesting is there may be, because of that, less need for an accelerated recovery.  One of the factors that you -- one of the issues that you talked about was borrowing before.

This would -- and I am suggesting to you that that may -- in light of your reduced capital budget -- it may be less important to you, to Hydro One.

MR. GREGG:  Again, I don't think I am probably the person most adequately prepared to discuss that specific issue, and I would ask you to speak to panel 4.

MR. CROCKER:  Because we agreed, Mr. Chairman, the five minutes was much faster than I thought, and I am done with this area.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It was a species of agreement, Mr. Crocker.

MR. CROCKER:  It is the closest we ever get, maybe.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So we will break until 1:30.  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:26 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:40 p.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Mr. Crocker.
Procedural Matters:


MS. LEA:  Pardon me, Mr. Chair.  I do have one administrative matter to take care of.

During the lunch break, Hydro One has provided us with colour copies of a portion of a confidential exhibit.  It is the slide deck from KX1.4.

Mr. Rogers, I presume this is also a confidential document?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Can we please give this colour copy a different exhibit number just so we know where we are?  It will be KX2.6; KX2.6.  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. KX2.6:  Colour version of Slide Deck, Exhibit KX1.4

MS. LEA:  Thank you, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It certainly is in colour.

[Laughter]

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Crocker.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I want to go back and cover one area of the Bruce-to-Milton that I neglected to cover, and then I want to deal with the Nipigon to Pickle Lake project, and that will conclude my cross-examination.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  I want to see whether I can understand the impact of Bruce-to-Milton, in terms of cost and revenue requirement, and the significance, therefore, of the CWIP, the accelerated cost recovery request.

If you look at A-11-5, page 9 - and I don't think this is particularly controversial - the bottom paragraph --

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  -- you are asking for $43.6 million in CWIP for 2011 and $26 million in 2012; is that correct?  Do I have that right?

MR. GREGG:  Just give me a second to read about it.

That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I want to see if I understand what the impact of that is compared to your total revenue request.

If you turn to E1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 3, this gives revenue requirements -- this chart gives revenue requirements, as I understand it, overall revenue requirements, for 2010-2011 and the difference?

MR. GREGG:  Correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Correct.  And the total revenue requirement, the difference -- the total revenue requirement for 2010 is 1,257.3 million and for 2011 a million -- a billion, rather, 445.5.  And the difference is 188.2 million; correct?

MR. GREGG:  That's what I see there, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If you go to page 5, then, you, once again, do the -- have a similar chart as it relates to 2011-2012.

I won't repeat the numbers.  You can read them.  The difference is $102 million.

MR. GREGG:  I can see that, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Now, am I correct in suggesting to you that the 43.6 million for Bruce-to-Milton in 2011 and - I have forgotten the number - 26 million in 2012 should be taken as a portion of the increases you require for 2010 and -- 2011 and 2012?  That's how you factor that?

MR. GREGG:  Give me one moment.

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. ROGERS:  I am instructed -- the witnesses can try to answer if they want, but panel 4 will have a very good answer for this, I think, a very quality answer.  But I am happy to have them try if they want.

MR. GREGG:  I think if you look at table 3, which is on page 4, it shows that the change from '10 to '11 includes 44.5 million attributed to Bruce-to-Milton.

MR. CROCKER:  45.5?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Well, that is even more than I...

So simple mathematics is that's about 23 percent in 2011 and 25 percent in 2012, and I just want to understand.  That is the accelerated cost requirement that you are requesting; that is, 23 percent of your increased revenue requirement for those two -- 22 percent in one year, 25 percent in the second year, is what you're asking for?

MR. GREGG:  I believe that is an accurate statement.  But as my counsel advised, I think panel 4 would be better able to assist in the details of that.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay, thank you.

I would like to talk to you a bit about the Northwest Transmission Reinforcement.  That's the Nipigon to Pickle Lake reinforcement.

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  On D2-2, schedule 3, the investment summary document, where you are talking about D35 -- and I don't have a page.  These pages aren't numbered.

MR. GREGG:  Yes, I have that.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  In the paragraph above -- immediately above the heading "Results", you say:
"The cost estimate is based on Hydro One's intention to seek approval in the section 92 application for this project for accelerated cost recovery of CWIP."

So you are looking for accelerated cost recovery for this project; correct?

MR. GREGG:  This is one of the projects that currently development is on hold as a result of the minister's direction to the OPA.

MR. CROCKER:  That is the one of the questions I was going to ask, but, okay.  That's fine.  I understand that.  But, once again, you were -- in light of your uncertainty as to the timing of that, I have a couple of questions regardless of that.  I will see whether I can...

MR. GREGG:  Sure.

MR. CROCKER:  If you look at A11, schedule 4, page 16, you are describing that project?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  On the second page, page 17 of 47, you are asking for $21.7 million?

MR. GREGG:  Which page again, sir?

MR. CROCKER:  Seventeen of 47.

MR. GREGG:  That would be the total OM&A development work.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MR. GREGG:  21.7, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  In light of the fact that this is a project now on hold, are you still asking for that?

MR. GREGG:  No.  And, again, the development work for any of these projects would be -- has stopped, is the first point, but also would be put into the previously-approved deferral account.  So no impact on rates in this application.

MR. CROCKER:  No, I understand that.  Do you view this project as being one which is required?  Despite the fact it is on hold, it is one of the ones which is predetermined, isn't it?

MR. GREGG:  It was certainly included in the Schedule A of the original letter.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  And you may not know this, and if you don't, don't hesitate to tell me.  I am sure you wouldn't anyway.  That -- as I recall in the IPSP, only the Nipigon to the Jackfish portion of this was proposed, recommended.  Do you recall that?

MR. GREGG:  Not specifically, no.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Do you know the purpose of the Jackfish to Pickle Lake portion of this?  Would I be fair in suggesting to you that it is primarily to service mining enterprises?

MR. GREGG:  No.  That would be one consideration, but there are a number of other potential considerations along that routing.

There is the proposed development of Little Jackfish.  There is also the ability -- Mr. Young could probably add some more detail than I can -- the ability to connect other renewable generation in the area that would be enabled by the construction of that line.

MR. CROCKER:  However, fair to say that a primary or significant portion is to service the mining industry, and specific mines?

MR. GREGG:  Primary?  No, I don't think it is fair to say that it would be a primary driver.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  In the request for 21.7 million, which we've already discussed and you've indicated to me that that is on hold, and I understand that --

MR. ROGERS:  To be fair, Mr. Chairman, my friend keeps saying it's a request, and I just want -- it is money they believe they will spend and put in a variance account, and someday, I presume, I or somebody else will be here to try and persuade you that they were reasonable costs and allow you to clear the account.  So we're not asking for it in this case.

MR. CROCKER:  A request now or a request in the future, regardless.

Have you considered potential contributions from end users as the Transmission System Code would suggest you do?

MR. GREGG:  Hold on one sec.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. GREGG:  No, sorry.  Mr. Young is just reminding me that we have not sought capital contribution from the mine at this point.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I have no further questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Rogers, we can do redirect examination-by-examination, or all at the end.

MR. ROGERS:  I would prefer it at the end.  I think, sir, it is most efficient.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Warren?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Gregg, I think most of my questions will be for you, and the first cluster of questions I have for you will deal with some of the confidential exhibits that have been introduced.

And to assist in the process, if you could turn up KX1.3, which is a memorandum to the board of directors, dated November 11, 2009.In addition to that, if you could turn up the confidential Exhibit KX1.4, which is the memorandum of February 11, 2010 to the Hydro One board.

In connection with that, also, KX2.6, which is the coloured slides that were introduced a few moments ago.

And the final document is a memorandum dated May 13, 2010, which is not a confidential exhibit.  It is a memorandum to the Hydro board, and it was attached to CME Interrogatory No. 1.   So it would be an attachment to Exhibit I, tab 3, schedule 1.

Have you got those in front of you?

While Mr. Gregg is looking for these materials, Mr. Chairman and Members of the Panel, I have advised my friend that I intend to put to the witnesses, from these documents, the percentage rate impact in each of these documents.  He has indicated that he has no difficulty with that.  I don't intend to put to him any forward-looking financial data.

So with that in mind, I intend to proceed with the cross-examination, but I am sure if I deviate from my promises, that Mr. Rogers will pounce like a wary cat.

Do you have those materials, Mr. Gregg?

MR. GREGG:  I have all but one.  We're just -- the last one was the May...

MR. WARREN:  13th memorandum.

MR. GREGG:  13th memo, with my --

MR. WARREN:  But it has not been marked as an exhibit.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It is actually in the motion materials -- I don't know whether the witness panel has that -- at tab 2.

MR. GREGG:  Yes, I've got it.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Gregg, so that you understand by way of overview the cluster of questions, I am trying to track chronologically the changes in the application, at least internally within Hydro One Networks.

And beginning with KX1.3, this is a memorandum to the board of directors, dated November 11, 2009.

If you could turn to the fifth page of the text under "Regulatory"?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  You will see at the beginning of the third full paragraph:

"A cost-of-service transmission rate application is intended to be filed in Q1, 2010, based on the budget.  Approximate rate increases are 26 percent in 2011 and 11 percent in 2012."

Then in brackets:

"(2 percent and 1 percent of the total customer bill respectively)."

Have I read that accurately?

MR. GREGG:  You have.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  The next document I would like you to turn to in the chronology is KX1.4, which is another memorandum to the board of directors, dated February 11, 2010.

And this, looking at -- under the heading "key highlights" looking at the second bullet item, it says, and I quote:

"The proposed increase in transmission tariff rates is 16.2 percent and 9.8 percent in 2011 and 2012 respectively, or 1.2 percent and 0.07 percent of the customer bill.  The rate increases presented at the November 11, 2009 board of directors meeting were 25.8 percent and 10.8 percent in 2011 and 2012 respectively."

Have I read that accurately?

MR. GREGG:  You have.

MR. WARREN:  Now, if I then go -- sorry, and I may have missed it in the voluminous record, Mr. Gregg, but I don't see anywhere in the record -- and I am happy if you could point me to it -- I don't see any explanation for the change from just shy of two months beforehand -- exactly two months, November 11 to February 11, change in the proposed increase in tariff -- transmission tariff rates.

Is there an explanation in the record somewhere, sir, for how the changes took place in that two-month period?

MR. GREGG:  You are specifically referencing the change from November 2009 to February 2010?

MR. WARREN:  Yes, that's right.

MR. GREGG:  The primary driver for that rate decrease, so -- which is going from 25.8 to --

MR. WARREN:  I apologize.  I am happy, Mr. Gregg, for you to provide me with any explanation you want, but my specific question was:  Is there evidence in the record which explains the change?

You can provide me with whatever gloss you want.  I just want that question answered, if you wouldn't mind.

MR. GREGG:  Can you give me a moment, just to review it?

MR. WARREN:  Of course, sir.

MR. GREGG:  Sir, I think it is -- I could point you to page 3 of the February 11th report, the board of directors, under the heading of "Regulatory".

MR. WARREN:  Right.

MR. GREGG:  If we go to the second paragraph, second sentence, I will read it to you.
"On December 11, 2009 the OEB issued its cost of capital report which reset the formula for determining return on equity and established an initial rate of 9.75 for 2010."

That, sir, is the main driver for the rate decrease between November 2009 and February 2010.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  May I assume, Mr. Gregg, that the primary driver, then, for the decrease was that you anticipated getting an increase in revenue from the increased return on equity resulting from the Board's cost of capital position; is that a fair conclusion on my part?

MR. GREGG:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Thanks.  Then in the next step, I would like to go to the May 13th, 2010 memorandum.

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  And this is not confidential.  And if I look at the...  I will just pause for a moment, Mr. Gregg, as a side bar.

I assume, Mr. Rogers, that my reading into the record the full first bullet under "Key Highlights" would not transgress the confidential concerns?

MR. ROGERS:  No.  This document is not confidential.

MR. WARREN:  Right.  Thank you.

The first bullet item under "Key Highlights" in that document says, "the transmission business" -- sorry:
"A careful review of the transmission costs and given the customer impact of rate increases, Hydro One has revised its 2011-2012 application.  The transmission business revenue requirement for 2011 has been reduced by 57 million.  It is now 1.445 billion, and 2012 has been reduced by 65 million and is 1.547 million."

Have I read that correctly?

MR. GREGG:  You have.

MR. WARREN:  Then the next bullet item:
"The resulting increase in transmission rates is now 15.7 percent versus 21.5 percent in 2011, and 9.8 percent in 2012 versus 9.1 percent."

Have I read that correctly?

MR. GREGG:  You have.

MR. WARREN:  Now, what puzzles me, and I am confident you will have an explanation for me, is that we started in November of 2009 with a proposed increase of 25 percent in 2011.

Then some two months later, it had been reduced to the number which we talked about a few moments ago to 16, and we are now down to 15.7; is that correct?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And the change in the 2012 number went from 10.8 percent in November to the number we had in February, to a number of 9.8 percent in 2012; correct?

MR. GREGG:  Correct.

MR. WARREN:  Now, that's dated May 13th, 2010, and I'm assuming, Mr. Gregg, that those changes were the result of considered work on the part of Hydro One Networks, on your budgeting team; correct?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  I'm presuming, as well, Mr. Gregg, that you are in regular contact -- not you personally, but Hydro One Networks, is in regular contact with your shareholder.  Is that a fair assumption on my part?

MR. GREGG:  That is a fair assumption, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I would like you to turn, please, to Board Staff Interrogatory 98.  I apologize, I should have asked you to pull this up before.

MR. GREGG:  Okay, I have that.

MR. WARREN:  And the second of the attachments to that, attachment 2, is a letter dated May 5, 2010 from Mr. Duguid in his capacity as Minister of Energy and Infrastructure to Ms. Formusa, and do you have that in front of you?

MR. GREGG:  I do.

MR. WARREN:  The third full paragraph says:
"Bearing that in mind, I would request that Hydro One Networks carefully reassess the contents of its transmission rates application prior to filing with the Ontario Energy Board."


Now, is it not fair to say that some eight days later there is a memorandum which explains the change, that the change didn't take place in the eight days between Minister Duguid's letter and the memorandum of the 13th; isn't that fair?

MR. GREGG:  Sorry, say that again.

MR. WARREN:  Is it a reasonable assumption, on my part, that a change of this significance and the amount that's requested by way of increase in rates, did not take place between May 5 and May 13th?  Fair assumption on my part?

MR. GREGG:  Well, it certainly is part of the ongoing review of what we were preparing to file with this -- with the Ontario Energy Board.

But there are a number of considerations and an evolving application was coming together.  I'm trying to remember the date.  I think it was May 14th we had -- no, May 14th was the filing.  We also had a stakeholder session sometime in that period, as well.

MR. WARREN:  Well, let me ask you this, Mr. Gregg.

Do you know if the minister knew, when he wrote the letter of May 5, 2010, what the ultimate rate application was going to look like?  Did he know the changes you had already made?  Do you know that, sir?

MR. GREGG:  I just want to -- did I -- what changes?

MR. WARREN:  The changes in the rate application from the original one in November to the one in February and the one that was announced or issued -- announced, I'm sorry, eight days later.

MR. GREGG:  I'm still not entirely sure I am following your sequence of events, sir.

MR. WARREN:  My apologies.  Let me go back over it in baby steps.

Let's start first with Exhibit -- the May 13th, 2010 submission to the Board, okay?  Now, this says -- looking at the second bullet item under "Key Highlights", it announces to the Board -- advises the Board of an increase in transmission rates of 15.7 percent versus 21.5 percent in 2011.

Just pausing on that, in the material that you and I have read, there never was a proposed rate increase -- sorry, transmission rate increase of 21.5 percent.  That number never appeared anywhere, did it, in the material you and I have read?

MR. GREGG:  It was not in the materials you have pointed me to, no, that is correct.  Perhaps I could assist by telling you where that number does come from.

So when we originally went to a stakeholder session to discuss our application - it was in March - we did discuss the 16.2 percent increase in '11, and the other amount in '12.

But, also, at the same time, we were seeking a revised return on equity from a previous decision.  So we were appealing a decision that we had just received the previous December, I believe it was, where we were seeking the higher ROE.

So we mentioned in that stakeholdering session that if we were unsuccessful in that appeal, the 16.2 percent would become 21.5 percent.  That's where the reference to 21.5 comes from.

MR. WARREN:  Was the 21 ever put to the board of directors?  Certainly not in the material we have been presented with, which I understand to be all of the material that was presented to the board of directors.

MR. GREGG:  It does not appear -- I think there is a reference in the May 13, 2010.  It says the resulting increase in transmission rates is now 15.7 versus 21.5 percent.

MR. WARREN:  Getting back to the sequence of questions I was asking you, on May 13th, the board of directors is advised that the resulting transmission rate increase is 15.7 percent versus a number which had never been presented to them before, as far as we can tell.  And that announcement is some eight days after --

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  -- the minister writes to Ms. Formusa and says, See what you can do to cut back on your application.  Right?

I'm suggesting to you, sir, that it is not credible that the change was made in the eight days between the minister's letter and this memorandum.  Is that not a reasonable assumption on my part, sir?

MR. GREGG:  I don't think it is a reasonable assumption.  We are constantly -- as you see from the materials that have been provided to you, we go through rigorous planning processes.

You will see changes over the various submissions that have come from November to February to May, where we are constantly reviewing our requirements.

You will also see that a number of assumptions around the green energy projects have been changing.

And what you're referring to was the minister's request, I believe of May 5th, saying, Please go back again and have another look to please see is everything you put in there absolutely essential.  And I believe that was in the frame of:  Can customers -- you know, in the interests of customers, please go back and have one more review and include what is essential for the safe and reliable operation of our system.

MR. WARREN:  Is it your evidence under oath today, sir, that between May 5th and May 13th, the Hydro One Networks board of directors went back and had another look at its application, and changed the nature of that application?  Is that your evidence, sir?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, just one other point to follow up on the point you've just made to me about the changes in the Green Energy Act.

Now, if you could stay with the May 13th memorandum, have you got that?

MR. GREGG:  I do.

MR. WARREN:  If you could turn to the third full page of that document, under "Risk Analysis"?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  It is talking about reductions in the rate base.  And it says, and I quote:

"These reductions largely reflect Green Energy project deferrals, pending confirmation by the OPA that there is sufficient demand to proceed with the projects or deferrals as a result of delays in customer requests."

Have I read that accurately?

MR. GREGG:  You have.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, going back to Board Staff 98, the first attachment to that is a letter, again from Mr. Duguid to Colin Andersen.  This is dated May 7th, and this is the letter that Mr. Crocker and others have referred to.

And it is the one in which Mr. Anderson says to the OPA -- this is my gloss, and please correct me if I am wrong in my gloss -- I would like you to rethink some of the OPA's -- some of the Green Energy projects.  Right?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  As a result of which, you down tools on the development portion of your Schedule A Green Energy projects; correct?

MR. GREGG:  Correct.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, six days after the letter to the OPA, six days, from May 7th to May 13th, we have Hydro One Networks saying that they're able to reduce their revenue requirement as a result of these deferrals.

Have I -- have I got that chronology correctly?

MR. GREGG:  I believe you do.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, that suggests to me, sir - and please correct me if I'm wrong - that the minister and the OPA and Hydro One Networks are talking to one another on a regular basis, communicating what's going on.

Hydro One Networks must have known that this was coming, sir, otherwise it couldn't change its application in a mere six days as a result of these deferrals.

Is that not a reasonable assumption on my part?

MR. GREGG:  I think, to break it into pieces, of course we have ongoing dialogue with the Ontario Power Authority, and of course we have ongoing dialogue with our shareholder, as would be the normal course of business.

But I do want to point out that, yes, once the direction was received from the minister in a letter to my CEO, we did take back a revised application to the board of directors on May 13th for approval.

That is the timeline.

MR. WARREN:  Now, am I correct in assuming, Mr. Gregg -- and please correct me if I'm wrong -- that underlying these -- that any changes in a transmission rate application of any consequence, that what we're talking about are material changes in the revenue requirement, and therefore the impact on ratepayers?  Is that fair?

MR. GREGG:  Any changes?

MR. WARREN:  The changes we're talking about here, the percent of changes.  They're significant changes; correct?

MR. GREGG:  I guess it depends on your definition of "significant".

MR. WARREN:  Well, you wouldn't have, in May 13th, 2010, issued to the board of directors a memorandum saying:  We've made trivial changes in our application, would you?

MR. GREGG:  No.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  So we can agree that you're only bringing to their attention material changes in the application; correct?

MR. GREGG:  Bringing to them changes in the application, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I'm assuming, sir, that underlying these changes from February -- sorry, from November to February, to the ultimate one in May, must have been a number of considerations by the budget team at Hydro One Networks and others within Hydro One Networks, in order to arrive at these numbers; is that fair?  That would have explained how they were getting to these numbers?

MR. GREGG:  That there would have been a number of iterations?  Is that what you're referring to?

MR. WARREN:  Iterations, submissions on where cuts could be made, the impact on Hydro One Networks, the risk analysis, and so on and so forth.

There must have been that material underlying these changes; is that not fair?

MR. GREGG:  I am trying to think what material that might be, sir.

MR. WARREN:  Well, we have otherwise -- other places in the evidence, a very detailed explanation of your budgeting process, how scrupulously attentive you are to arriving at the numbers that you put before the Board to justify your rate increases.

You would agree that material is there, and that reflects a company that is very careful about how it arrives at its numbers?

MR. GREGG:  We are.

MR. WARREN:  Right.  So there --

MR. GREGG:  Perhaps --

MR. WARREN:  Sorry.  There are changes between February –- sorry, between November and May, and there must have been this kind of scrupulous attention to detail to make sure that the budget numbers were right and that Hydro One could live with them; is that not fair?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  And the only explanation we have for these changes is in these documents that you and I have been talking about; is that correct?

MR. GREGG:  That is correct.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  Now, am I correct, sir -- you and I have talked that the change between November and February -- that change -- was due to the prospect, you believe, of an increase in your revenue from an increase in ROE; correct?

MR. GREGG:  Correct.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  And then the change that ultimately resulted in the Hydro One -– sorry, in your memorandum of May 13th, 2010, that change was, according to your risk analysis, based on reductions in the Schedule A work under the Green Energy Act as a result of the minister's letter to the OPA; correct?

MR. GREGG:  That is certainly a part of it.  I would also point to Board Interrogatory No. 38 that gets into a detailed explanation of the changes between February and May.

MR. WARREN:  I'm going to put this proposition to you, Mr. Gregg, to see if you agree with it.

My proposition is that you made these changes ostensibly bring to protect the ratepayers from impact, when in fact you were assured of a higher revenue stream from the increase in the rate of return on equity.  That is the only or the principal driver for these changes?

MR. GREGG:  That is not correct, no.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  Did you at any point receive any direction from your shareholder, at any point between November and May, did you receive any direction from your shareholder that you were to maintain a certain level of revenue for the shareholder?  In all of these changes, did you receive any direction from your shareholder that you were -- regardless of the changes you made -- to maintain a certain level of revenue?

MR. GREGG:  Not that I'm aware of.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Can you undertake to determine if that direction was received, sir?  And if so, in what form, and provide us with a copy?

MR. ROGERS:  No.  I don't see why it would be relevant, Mr. Chairman.

I mean, if the shareholder wanted to maintain its allowed return, what's -- so what?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I didn't hear that to be the question.

MR. WARREN:  It wasn't the question, sir.  And let me, if I can, Mr. Sommerville, respond to the question of the relevance.

It's that, as the May 13th, 2010 memorandum -- this is my gloss on it -- that Hydro One Networks has made something of a show in this proceeding of saying:  We were responsive to concerns of the ratepayers.  We reduced our revenue requirement in the ways that are reflected in these memoranda.

One of the questions that the -- my client will be interested in determining is whether or not these are, in fact, meaningful changes, whether other changes could have been made in the revenue requirement, and whether or not there were countervailing directions from the minister that in effect limited the extent to which these changes could be made.

Now, the issue has been put in the evidence of Hydro One Networks, and in my respectful submission, we're entitled to all of the information relevant to how these changes took place and why.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that is a fair question, Mr. Rogers.  As I understand, the question is simply seeking the -- an investigation by the company to see if a direction or instruction from the shareholder was forwarded, which required a certain revenue, maintenance of a certain revenue amount.

And that, I think, would be relevant to the application and to our consideration.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, very well.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

Could we have an undertaking number for that, please?

MS. LEA:  J2.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  TO ADVISE WHETHER HYDRO ONE NETWORKS RECEIVED DIRECTION FROM ITS SHAREHOLDER BETWEEN FEBRUARY AND MAY 2010 TO MAINTAIN A CERTAIN LEVEL OF REVENUE FROM HYDRO ONE NETWORKS.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  I think it may be -- I may be best able to answer that orally with Mr. Struthers.  Well, I will do it in writing, so you will have it in advance.

MS. LEA:  I think if we could reiterate the request, Mr. Warren, just for the record.

MR. WARREN:  My question, the undertaking I asked for to Mr. Gregg was whether or not, between February of 2010 –- sorry, 2009, I apologize, and May 13th of 2010, those bookend dates being the dates of the memorandums to the board of directors, if Hydro One Networks received any direction from its shareholder that there was to be maintained a certain level of revenue from Hydro One Networks.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I believe it is 2010 in both cases.  February 2010 and May 2010.

MR. WARREN:  Yes, that's correct.  Thank you.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Gregg, I am staying for the moment with the cluster of confidential documents, and in this -- for the questions that follow, I would like you to turn up K2.6, which is the coloured portion of the...

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Gregg, I apologize in advance.  You may not be the person to answer these questions, but I will try them on you, in any event.

If you could turn to page 6 under the heading "Transmission Rate Analysis"?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  There are -- there are some bar charts there.  And, first of all, can you tell me what this represents?  We've got a total of -- just look at the left-hand side, a total of 16.2 percent in 2011, and these appear to me to be contributors to the rate increase; is that fair?  Have I understood it correctly?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.  The assessment at that time of contributors to a rate increase, transmission rate increase.

MR. WARREN:  Now, we have -- the blue represents "policy/mandated".  What does that mean, sir?

MR. GREGG:  You will see in the right side of the blue column the projects that make up that 7.7 percent, being the Bruce-to-Milton project, the off coal, other requirements that -- that was a government policy to get off coal for the province.  That's what we mean by policy.  Green energy projects, and the remainder of the projects listed there.

MR. WARREN:  And those would be all Ontario government policies, or are they internal policies to Hydro One, or perhaps there is no difference.  I don't know.

MR. GREGG:  Well, there are also NERC requirements, which is the reliability -- Northeast Reliability Council.  We have requirements as a member of NERC.  So there is a portion of that work that is required for that.

MR. WARREN:  Sustaining work I think I understand.

Change in load, change in -- change in return would be the increase in the ROE; is that correct?

MR. GREGG:  I believe so, yes.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  Now, when I turn over to page 8 of the same document, I see that -- it would appear that Hydro One Networks, when it is calculating impacts, it calculates impacts on customers from the combination of transmission and distribution; is that correct?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.  In this page, that's what we've got.

MR. WARREN:  Now, can you tell me this?  In deciding what rate increase to seek, does Hydro One Networks take into consideration other factors, for example, a global adjustment, in terms of its impact on ratepayers?

MR. GREGG:  It would be part of the overall consideration, part of the discussion, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me where, in the materials that are before the Board in this application, there is an indication of how Hydro One Networks' board or its management considered these other factors like the global adjustment?  Is there anywhere in the material we have in this application which tells us how those factors were considered?

MR. GREGG:  Not that I can readily point to.  And perhaps panel 4 could assist you in that when they appear.

But perhaps if I could add, sir, that while those are part of the overall discussion to look at the other factors, our obligation in the transmission business is to bring forward, to this Board, our recommended and required investments in our system to maintain ongoing reliable and safe operation of the grid.

So we do not alter our recommendations when it comes to reliability and safety of the grid.  It is our recommendation that these investments are required, and, yes, there are other potential increases that come from other sources.

MR. WARREN:  Now, my final question on this exhibit and just to make sure I understand this, page 11, am I reading this document correctly?  This is under the heading "Green Energy Act Implications, annual capital spend, base plus green."

Am I correct, sir, first of all, in understanding that between 2009 -- and I won't deal with numbers.  Between 2009 and 2014, the capital spending will...

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me.  Sorry.  I think I frightened someone in the audience.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I don't know if there is a causal relationship.

MR. ROGERS:  I'm trying to be vigilant.  When my friend mentioned 2014, I jumped up.  I wonder if he could restrict his question to the rate period.  If you will see on the redacted version of this, from 2011 forward has been redacted for the reasons I explained this morning.  I don't know where my friend is going.  I am pretty sure he can deal with this without referring to it.

MR. WARREN:  The reason for the questions, Mr. Chairman - I am going to get to this in the second portion of my examination - is dealing with the Green Energy Plan, which is a forward-looking plan over a period of time.  I'm just simply trying to understand if I read this correctly that the impact on total capital spending will be as this chart suggests.

I just want to make sure I understand that.  I don't propose to read any numbers into it at all.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I am expecting the chart speaks for itself.  Is your question to the witness:  Is there some alteration that he would like to make?

MR. WARREN:  That's right, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that is a fair enough question.

MR. ROGERS:  That's fine.

MR. GREGG:  The question is if I would like to make any alterations to this?

MR. WARREN:  Right.

MR. GREGG:  No.

MR. WARREN:  Okay, thanks.

Can I then turn, sir, to the Green Energy Act?  And my friend, Mr. Crocker, has dealt with it at considerable length and I will do my best to avoid duplication.

The context for my questions -- again, I think, Mr. Gregg, you perhaps unhappily volunteered this morning that you were the person to deal with these questions.

[Laughter.]

MR. GREGG:  I am happy to deal with any questions.

MR. WARREN:  That's very kind of you, sir.

One of the issues that is on the issue list in this application is whether or not Hydro One Networks is using the appropriate planning criteria for its Green Energy Act.  So my questions are within the context of that particular issue.

MR. GREGG:  Okay.

MR. WARREN:  Now, just by way of global application -- sorry, global question, I would like you to turn up, please, the prefiled evidence on this subject, which appears at Exhibit A, tab 11, schedule 4.

MR. GREGG:  A-11-4, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Yes.  And my first question in this, sir, is to understand, if you wish, the genesis of the Green Energy Plan which is now before the Board.

And it indicates on page 2 of this document that all of the green energy projects included in the plan, discussed in the plan, are included in the letter dated September 21, 2009 from the Minister of Energy and Infrastructure to Hydro One.

Do you see that?

MR. GREGG:  I do.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And elsewhere in this document -- sorry, not in this document.  If you could turn back to Board Staff 98?  You should have that in front of you.  I was dealing with it before.

MR. GREGG:  I have it, yes.

MR. WARREN:  And in response to (d) on page 2 of that document, the central paragraph reads:
"Hydro One began development activities for the Green Energy (GE) projects in response to anticipated demand for the Northwest Transmission Expansion project.  In addition, Hydro One began the development work for other priority GE projects in response to the Minister of Energy and Infrastructure's letter dated September 21, 2009."

Have I got that correct?

MR. GREGG:  I see that, yes.

MR. WARREN:  But that date -- following that date is not the first time that Hydro One Networks began work on green energy matters, is it?  It had been at work on them before that, hadn't it?

MR. GREGG:  There were certainly discussions that had happened before the September 21st letter came in, but I'm not sure any of the work really began before the -- I see it says:  "Development activities."

There may have been a few meetings that took place prior to the September 21st letter.

MR. WARREN:  If you could turn up, sir, again, one of the confidential exhibits, this is a memorandum from Ms. Frank, dated June 17th, 2009.

MR. GREGG:  Which exhibit is this in?

MR. WARREN:  I apologize, Ms. Lea.  I am not sure I know what the exhibit number for this one.

MS. LEA:  KX1.2.

MR. WARREN:  KX1.2, the June 17th memorandum.

MR. GREGG:  That's the June.

MR. WARREN:  Partway through it, sir, there are 53 pages' worth of presentation to the board, including a slide deck presentation.

MR. GREGG:  Yes, I've got it.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Does the Board have it?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.  We've got it.  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  It says, under the heading "Reason for report":

"This report is submitted to the regulatory and environment committee for its information.  In support of the Green Energy and Green Economy Act Hydro One is planning to build new transmission lines throughout the province to allow for the connection of the many renewable generation projects that are expected to be facilitated by the Act.  These new transmission lines will take the form of major network reinforcements, regional enabler lines servicing generating clusters, and connection lines for individual generation projects."

Have I read that correctly?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Could my friend just tell me where he is?  I'm sorry, Mr. Chairman, I can't -- I am lost here.  What page?  What page?

MR. WARREN:  KX1.2, and there is a slide deck that ends in page 53, and then after that there is a memorandum from Ms. Frank.

MR. ROGERS:  So it's the memorandum that we're looking at?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  What page of the memorandum?

MR. WARREN:  1.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Rogers, I just read to the witness under the heading "Reason for report" the second full paragraph.  Do you have it now, Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  I think so, Mr. Chairman.  Let's proceed.  I'm sorry.

MR. WARREN:  Under the heading -- the next heading is "Key highlights":

"Hydro One's Green Energy-related transmission capital spending is currently projected at approximately 4.4 billion on core projects over the next five to 10 years."

MR. ROGERS:  I don't to be -- I am not trying not to be too picky about this, but I am concerned about this, because I am advised by the securities council for my client that this is a serious matter to review --

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Rogers, if you object to it, then I will withdraw the question, and --

MR. ROGERS:  If my friend can do it without referring to dates, I'm quite happy with it -- or numbers, rather.

MR. WARREN:  My point, simply, in this, Mr. Gregg, is that on the date of this memorandum, June 17th, this is some three months before the minister's letter?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Clearly, Hydro One had done some detailed thinking about what its Green Energy commitments were going to be; correct?

MR. GREGG:  We had done some thinking and we had done consultation with the Ontario Power Authority.

MR. WARREN:  Because if you look at the next bullet item under "Key highlights" you have identified the number of transmission projects that are going to be engaged in it, right?

MR. GREGG:  An approximate number of 20 to 25, yes.

MR. WARREN:  And that number happens, through a miraculous synchronicity, to approximate the number of projects that are on Schedule A to the minister's letter three months later; correct?

MR. GREGG:  I don't think there is anything miraculous about it.

MR. WARREN:  Had the minister told you in June what projects he was going to bring forward in Schedule A?

MR. GREGG:  No.  But when you're looking at planning, you have to remember the Green Energy Plan had already become a reality at this time, and so there was a lot of work going on in the sector, between us and between the Ontario Power Authority, and considering what investments would be required to enable the connection of distributed renewable generation around the province.

And so there were initial dialogues, initial discussions and concepts in the period before the September 21st letter that led to it.

I don't want to leave you with the impression that the minister just comes up with a list of projects and sends them to us.  It is something that is done on a consultative basis.

MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me sir, when we get to the September 21, 2009 letter, was the letter that the minister wrote -- the then-minister Smitherman -- was that letter -- were the contents of the letter discussed with Hydro One Networks before it was issued, to your knowledge?

MR. GREGG:  I don't know.  I don't know.  I am not aware of that.

MR. WARREN:  Was Hydro One Networks surprised at the list of 20 transmission projects in Schedule A?

MR. GREGG:  I don't believe we would have been surprised, no.

MR. WARREN:  Would those 20 transmission projects have been discussed with the OPA prior to that day?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  So we are to understand, then, that when the September 21 letter is issued by the minister, that you say in your evidence to Board Staff 98 that you started transmission work –- you started development work on that, you had known that was coming in advance of that; correct?

MR. GREGG:  To say that we had known that that was coming is probably somewhat going a little too far.

The letter certainly solidified and asked us to begin the development activities on a list of specific projects.

Prior to that list coming to us, there was some initial work.

You have to remember, too, that this is on the heels of the -- a prior Integrated Power System Plan, having gone -- at least started to go to the OEB for review at the time.

So it is an evolution of work over quite a long period of time that led to that September 21st letter to us.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, if you could turn up an interrogatory from my client, which is Interrogatory No. 34 from my client.  I will get you the exhibit number in a second.

It is Exhibit I, tab 10, schedule 34.

MR. GREGG:  Yes, sir.

MR. WARREN:  Now, the question was asked was, roughly speaking, how many of the transmission projects that are set out in the September 21st letter had been included in the plans prior to the minister's letter.

The answer, which is given below, is that some, if I have calculated correctly, some eight of them?

MR. GREGG:  Sorry, which number are you on?

MR. WARREN:  Exhibit I, tab 10, schedule 34.

MR. GREGG:  Oh, I heard 44, sorry.  Yes, I've got it.

MR. WARREN:  Now, when I compare that list to the list that is on the attachment A to the minister's letter, some eight of those projects reappear or appear on Schedule A.  Can you take that subject to check, sir?

MR. GREGG:  Essentially, that's true.

MR. WARREN:  Now, is it the case --

MR. GREGG:  Although, sorry, just have to check with Bing on something.

The last one would be a Schedule B project?

MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.

MR. GREGG:  The last one would be a Schedule B project, not Schedule --

MR. WARREN:  I understand.  I said eight of the nine appear on Schedule A.

MR. GREGG:  Okay.

MR. WARREN:  The ninth one, Manby, is a Schedule B.

MR. GREGG:  Yeah.  Right.

MR. WARREN:  Now, these are projects that had been, as I understand the answer, if you wish, on the planning board of Hydro One prior to the minister's letter.  They had been included in earlier applications; correct?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Is it the case that they were transformed into Green Energy Act projects as a result of the minister's letter?

MR. GREGG:  No.  These were always projects that were, in their genesis, to connect renewable energy to the grid.

MR. WARREN:  But as I understand your answer to Board Staff 98, as a result of the minister's letter, you began priority development work on all 20 projects as a result of that letter.

MR. GREGG:  We did.  We were urged by our shareholder to develop –- to begin the development work on those projects.

MR. WARREN:  And you did, in fact, begin development work on all of those projects?

MR. GREGG:  To varying degrees.

MR. WARREN:  So as a result of their being designated in Schedule A, eight of these projects went from ordinary projects to high-priority projects in which there was development work?  Have I understood that correctly?

MR. GREGG:  One second.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. GREGG:  Bing is adding some good information, so I will ask Mr. Young to answer part of that question.

MR. YOUNG:  The projects listed in the Exhibit I-10-34, those projects were already identified in the IPSP, many of those, for the purposes of connecting renewables.

So following the IPSP and during the previous rate filing, we had submitted that those projects and some development work for those projects should begin.

When the minister's letters came out, these were included as part of that list, some of these projects here.

MR. WARREN:  All I'm trying to understand, Mr. Young, is what happened to these projects as a result of the minister's letter.  Am I correct in understanding that what transformed these was that they became high priority development projects in which money was spent as a result of the letter?  Is that fair?

MR. YOUNG:  I think the priority for these projects didn't materially change.  I mean, development work was already under way.  These projects were earlier approved in the previous rate filing for development work, albeit for
-- with deferral account treatment.

MR. WARREN:  Now, if you could return - I think Mr. Gregg this is you - to Exhibit A, tab 11, schedule 4, to page 3 of that?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Looking first at the bottom of page 2, talking about the green energy projects, it says, and I quote:
"These projects represent a major renovation of Ontario's power system and are required because..."

And then there are four bullet items, the first of which is:
"The vast majority of potential renewable generation is remote from the transmission grid and/or the province's load centres."

Have I read that correctly?

MR. GREGG:  You have.

MR. WARREN:  At the crude level of understanding at which I am comfortable operating, when I see that there is a remoteness factor, that suggests to me that there would be, in the ordinary course, some risk in Hydro One Networks building a transmission line to a remote generation source.  Is that a fair understanding on my part?

MR. GREGG:  When you look at large-scale capital-intensive projects of that nature, yes, there are risks that go along with those.

MR. WARREN:  And in the ordinary course, where there is a risk identified by Hydro One, there would be some form of cost benefit analysis so that you could come, for example, to this Board and say that the benefits of building this transmission line outweigh the costs and the risks.  In the ordinary course that would be the case; is that fair, Mr. Gregg?

MR. GREGG:  That would be fair.  All of these projects, as was conceived at the time, once we got to a certain stage of development, we would be coming back to this Board to seek section 92 approval.

MR. WARREN:  And would you turn up, sir, in this context another interrogatory from my client, which is Interrogatory 38 which is, for the record, Exhibit I, tab 10, schedule 38?

MR. GREGG:  Yes, sir.

MR. WARREN:  Now, among the questions that we asked -- my client asked, just looking at the interrogatory itself:
"Is HON aware of cost/benefit analyses for these projects..."

These are the green energy projects:
"...prepared by the Ministry, the OPA or third parties? If so, please produce these analyses."

And if you look at the bottom of the response:
"Hydro One has not performed, nor is it aware of any cost/benefit analyses of the projects contained in the GEP."

Do you see that?

MR. GREGG:  I do.

MR. WARREN:  Have I read that correctly?

MR. GREGG:  You have.

MR. WARREN:  Now, as I understand the evidence -- and, again, so there is no misunderstanding between us, and I apologize for jumping back and forth, but if you go back to tab 11, schedule 4, at page 3?

MR. GREGG:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. WARREN:  Looking at the first full paragraph under the heading 2.0, "Determining need for green energy projects", "Hydro One's plans" -- I am reading the last sentence in that paragraph:
"Hydro One's plans for new GE projects will be based on the OPA's identification of need or direction from the government."

Have I read that correctly?

MR. GREGG:  You have.

MR. WARREN:  And when we go to the letter which is attached to Board Staff 98 -- I am not sure you need to turn it up, but this is the letter from the minister to the OPA in which he says - and this is my gloss on the letter, and correct me if I am wrong - that the OPA is to reconsider the need and the priority for these green energy projects, and, as a result of that, you have down tools on your development work on the Schedule A projects; correct?

MR. GREGG:  Correct.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  Am I correct then, sir, when I look at this evidence in its totality, that the planning criteria -- and I will put these propositions to you for your agreement or otherwise -- that the planning criteria for the green energy projects, as far as Hydro One Networks is concerned, consists of the following factors?

The minister tells Hydro One Networks what to do, as evidenced in Schedule A to the September 21st letter; correct?

MR. GREGG:  To say that that letter in itself is sufficient --

MR. WARREN:  I didn't say it was sufficient, sir.  I said it was one of the criteria.

MR. GREGG:  Our shareholder did provide us with a letter requesting us to begin development activities on a number of projects, yes.

MR. WARREN:  In addition to which, and the sentence you and I have agreed -- you agreed I read accurately -- Hydro One's plans for new GE projects will be based on the OPA's identification of need or direction from the government.  One of the planning criteria is what the minister tells you to do; correct?

MR. GREGG:  Not specifically.

Just to clarify that last sentence in the paragraph on page 3 of A, tab 11, schedule 4, what we're referring to there is the OPA's identification of need, which would assist us in any future section 92 application.  The OPA's assisting us in establishing need before the Ontario Energy Board.  But when we also refer to the ministerial direction, that is separate from a letter -- for example, the letter of September 21st.

MR. WARREN:  Absolutely, sir.  The minister tells you what to do and you do it; correct.

MR. GREGG:  If we are directed under our memorandum of agreement with our shareholder, the minister has the power to direct us to do certain things, yes.

MR. WARREN:  And am I right that the OPA performs the so-called TAT and ECT tests?

MR. GREGG:  They have performed the TAT, and they're planning to perform the ETC.

MR. WARREN:  Hydro One Networks doesn't perform either one of those tests; correct?

MR. GREGG:  No, no.  OPA does that.

MR. WARREN:  And Hydro One Networks, as the evidence indicates, performs no cost benefit analysis on the green energy projects; correct?

MR. GREGG:  We have not yet.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Hydro One Networks builds transmission lines essentially where the minister tells it to based on, in part, what the OPA does with its TAT and ECT tests; is that correct?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.  I think the point there is to begin development work.  You have to remember that all of these projects would be subject to a section 92 approval.

MR. WARREN:  Right.

And in this case, as a result of the minister's letter to the OPA, Hydro One Networks has down tools on its development work on the Schedule A projects; correct?

MR. GREGG:  We have suspended development activities for the time being, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Are there any other planning criteria that I have missed in that list, sir, that you apply to the green energy projects?

MR. GREGG:  Perhaps I could ask Mr. Young to maybe go back a little bit in time to talk about the IPSP and the various plans that have been developed over the last number of years that have led to this project.  Perhaps that would be helpful, sir.

MR. WARREN:  All I want to know is, whether you or Mr. Young, am I missing any of the planning criteria that you use for your green energy projects as we sit here today, other than the ones I have read to you?

MR. YOUNG:  From the perspective of development work, and to initiate that development work, those are the primary triggers.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Thanks, Mr. Young.

I wonder, Mr. Chairman, would now be an appropriate time for --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We can take our break now.  We will rise until five minutes after 3:00.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you very much.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 2:49 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 3:12 p.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Please be seated.

Mr. Warren.  Mr. Warren, we will continue until about 4:30.  If you can...

MR. WARREN:  If I am not out of here before that, sir, you have my proxy to shoot me.

[Laughter.]

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We may have to take a short break.

[Laughter.]

MR. WARREN:  Panel, I have just a few questions and I apologize in advance for the sheer tedium of the exercise, but I just want to follow up on a few details.

Could you turn up Exhibit A, tab 11, schedule 4, page 30?

MR. GREGG:  Yes, I have that, sir.

MR. WARREN:  The table 2, "Expenditures for Schedule B projects," am I correct in understanding that each of these projects -- sorry, which of these projects will come into service in the two test years?

MR. GREGG:  I will have Bing answer that question.

MS. LEA:  Microphone, please.

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.  There are two projects under item 1, which is the upgrading the Hearn station and the Leaside station, which are expected to come in-service in the test years.

None of the SC projects under item 2 are expected to be in the test years, to be in-service in the test years.

None of the enabling TS under item 3 are also not expected to be in the test years.

In item number 4, two inline breakers are expected to be in the – in-service in the test year.  And then all of item number 5, the protection and control, are expected to be in the test years.

MR. WARREN:  For item number 4, sir, of the capital expenditures, given that only two of the seven will come in, what is the capital expenditure figure now for that to be?

MR. YOUNG:  If you can give me a moment, I will direct you to Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 3, Appendix A.

If you look at table --

MS. LEA:  Can you repeat that please, sir?

MR. YOUNG:  Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 3, Appendix A, table 2 -- table 8, sorry.  Do you have that?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.

MR. YOUNG:  In that table, project D 37 and D 38 are the projects expected to be in-service in the test years.

They have expenditures of 13.4 and 6.9 in 2011 and '12 respectively.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you.  Panel, could you turn up a table that my friend Mr. Crocker referred you to -- and I apologize if I am momentarily duplicative of him -- table 5, the "Summary of development work for major green projects in bridge and test years"?

I am not sure I understood your answer, Mr. Gregg.  If the amounts that are shown at the bottom of that, 35.7 and 46.7, are any of those amounts to be recovered in the test years?  Or are they going into deferral accounts?

MR. GREGG:  Which table?  Which reference, again?

MR. WARREN:  Sorry.  Exhibit A, tab 11, schedule 4, page 46, table 5.

MR. GREGG:  Do you have that?  You go ahead.

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.  This is a table of the development work for all of the Schedule A projects.

MR. WARREN:  Right.  And my question -- I'm sorry, Mr. Young, if it has already been answered in response to Mr. Crocker -- are any of those amounts on that table to be recovered in the test years?

MR. YOUNG:  No, they're not.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Thanks.

Finally, in that exhibit, on the following page, page 147, the $160 million that are referred to, is any of that money to be recovered in the test years?

MR. YOUNG:  I'm sorry, Mr. Warren, what was the reference?

MR. WARREN:  The following page, page 47 of 47.

MR. YOUNG:  No.  These are all OM&A expenditures, which are in the deferral account.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. YOUNG:  And so won't be recovered.

MR. WARREN:  Now, if you could turn to Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 4, I'm not sure, Mr. Gregg, if you are the one who volunteered to answer questions about this.

MR. GREGG:  I think it is a combination of Mr. Young and myself.

MR. WARREN:  Now, the development OM&A, am I correct in understanding that this development OM&A is different from the development costs associated with the Schedule A projects?

MR. YOUNG:  If you look at table 1, under the line item that says:  "Development work for transmission projects"?

MR. WARREN:  Right.

MR. YOUNG:  Those are associated with the Schedule A projects.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  The ones above it, the three lines above the total, they are something different from the Schedule A projects?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, they are.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, let's take research development and demonstration.

Can you tell me, Mr. Young, what are the specific projects on which you propose to spend money in those categories?

MR. YOUNG:  There are a number of areas in -- for research and development.

I would like to just clarify that this isn't research and development in the more generic sense.  We like to refer to this as applied research, where it mostly makes up pilot and demonstration projects.

So we have -- we have work with a number of organizations, including EPRI and Connectrix, to look at a number of emerging technologies and new commercially available technologies which you can apply on the transmission system.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Young, let me see if I can simplify this and avoid the risk of being shot.

For the relevant expenditure, as I read this prefiled evidence, Mr. Young, it's at a very high level of generality in terms of the categories of the kinds of spending you may do, that it does not include any specific projects on which you propose to spend this money in the category; is that fair?

MR. YOUNG:  The description provides, yes, a general description of the projects in this category.

MR. WARREN:  Can you help me out, sir?  On what basis would this Panel, the Board, be able to determine whether or not the spending for these kinds of projects is prudent, when we don't have any details of what they are or the benefits of them?

MR. YOUNG:  These types of projects and this spending level that we're talking about have been previously approved in previous rate filings, namely in the previous rate filing for this category, expenditure levels of approximately $6 million were approved.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  Now, the $4 million in smart zone development, sir, is there a business case within Hydro One Networks for the smart zone development, sir?

MR. YOUNG:  The smart zone development encompasses a number of different areas.

So there is a number of different business cases for each of those categories and elements.

MR. WARREN:  Sorry, there is a business case for each of the various categories and developments?

MR. YOUNG:  Right.  In this particular area, this line item here refers to specifically smart grid-type studies.

As more and more distributed generation get connected into the system, there are a number of potential impacts that that can have on the transmission system.

So work in this particular area is related to looking at -- and there's a number of studies underway and currently in progress that looks at those types of impacts.

MR. WARREN:  I'm just wondering again, sir, how the Board would be able to assess the benefit of those projects or the prudence of those projects without information about what those projects consist of.

MR. YOUNG:  I can give you more information at this point --

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Is there --

MR. YOUNG:  If that would be helpful.

MR. WARREN:  Is there anything on the record, sir, about what the projects consist of?

MR. YOUNG:  Specifically in this filing, no.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Those are my questions.

MR. ROGERS:  You know, sir, with great respect, there is a level of detail -- that's why we have an interrogatory process.  They could have asked for it, if it is thought to be important.

MR. WARREN:  I didn't realize we had reached the argument stage yet, sir, but I am finished my questions.  Thank you very much.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Faye, you are next?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Faye:

MR. FAYE:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Panel, my name is Peter Faye.  I am asking questions on behalf of Energy Probe.

I would like to start with a couple of follow-up questions from cross-examination by Mr. Crocker and by Mr. Alexander.

Starting with Pollution Probe's questions, Mr. Alexander engaged you in a conversation about the backup supply that is available to compensate if one of the major transformer stations supplies goes down, namely, to Leaside or Manby.

There was a discussion around the incident at Manby where you lost a considerable amount of load.  I think you said it was 900 megawatts, if I remember right?

MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  And you went on to say that 700 megawatts was backed up from Leaside?

MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  Did I hear that right?  What I wanted to ask you was:  Where did the 700 extra megawatts come from at Leaside to back up Manby if Leaside is at capacity?

MR. YOUNG:  There is the Portlands generation facility.  That is 550 megawatts.

MR. FAYE:  So you got 550 of the 900 from Portlands.  What was Portlands doing, if it was totally devoted to backing up Manby?  Was it serving its own load?

MR. YOUNG:  Well, Portlands would be dispatched based on the market conditions at the time.  In the Leaside area, in addition to Portlands, there is also a significant auto transformer capability at Leaside which provides supply.  And for the loading on that day, then it was enough to support not only the Leaside load, but also the load at -- the 700 megawatts of load at Manby.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  That's where I thought we were going to end up with this.  So if this had occurred on a different a day, the Manby fire, or any other cause of major interruption, if this had occurred on a peak day, for instance, would you have had extra supply at any of those three locations, the Portlands Energy, the Leaside or the Manby, to back each other up?

MR. YOUNG:  Currently, right now, there is capability on the Leaside system, even on a peak loading day, to back up the Manby supply.  However, the reverse is not true.

MR. FAYE:  So Leaside can back up Manby, but not vice versa?

MR. YOUNG:  That's right, under the scenario of a complete loss of Leaside supply.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And that's without incurring on your normal philosophy of only loading one -- loading station to one transformer's worth, if it is a DESN station, for instance?

MR. YOUNG:  No.  That is under the assumption of losing all the -- either losing all the auto transformers at Leaside or losing all the six 230 kV circuits which supply into Leaside.

Our normal planning criteria for the transmission system as a whole is what we refer to as an N minus one.  So we design the system to be able to withstand for the loss of the first contingency without loss of load, and a contingency is defined as either a single element or, in some cases, a double-circuit supply.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Let me rephrase to simplify this.  I will tell you where I'm going with it.

I think Mr. Alexander ended up with a conclusion that 300 megawatts of distributed generation would be helpful, but not necessarily any more.  And from what I've heard you say, if this had occurred on a day when everything was at peak, would you have a different opinion on how many megawatts of distributed generation would be necessary to back that situation up, if you lost one element?

MR. YOUNG:  Oh, that 300 megawatts that we talked about earlier today was entirely for the purpose of addressing the extreme contingency.

For the standard planning criteria that we design and operate the system to, the system will be adequately supplied, and adequately supplied for quite some time.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, thank you.  I did misunderstand what that 300 was about.

Moving to Mr. Crocker's cross-examination, I think you had a long discussion with Mr. Crocker about the development costs that are being put in deferral accounts that are not part of your revenue requirement, because they're not in rates in this application.

I wanted to ask you a few follow-up questions.  You say that the development work has been suspended on the Schedule A projects, and I think I also heard you say that the overall effect will be neutral on this application and possibly neutral on the original estimates of what this development work would cost, because it is just going to be spent later than expected.  Is that fair?

MR. YOUNG:  Well, they are in a deferral account.  So we will have to demonstrate for the Board at a subsequent date the prudent expenditure of those -- of those amounts.  They're not being asked to be included in the revenue requirement in this case.

MR. FAYE:  Yes.  Sorry, I may have misphrased my question.  I was getting at -- take an example that, say, there was $100 million estimated for all of these development costs and that occurs over a number of years, and they're all going in a deferral account.

Now that they have been suspended, is the $100 million still a good number, or is it going to be more because you have had this delay?

MR. YOUNG:  I think we would have to review that when we get new information.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.

MR. GREGG:  I may just add there, though, sir, I think what we need to be mindful of is that there has been a significant take-up in the feed-in tariff program that has demonstrated there will be a number of renewable generation facilities installed, and that's really the driver behind the planning assumptions there.

So our view is that while some of the projects may change in name, some of them may change in specifics, generally we believe that these projects will be required.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Then just to go into a little detail, you suspended work on projects.  Who was doing that work?

MR. GREGG:  It's a mixture, with some being Hydro One employees, but also contract staff, depending on the area.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  So taking those one at a time, the staff that were working on those projects that are now suspended, what is that staff doing now?

MR. GREGG:  Staff -- most of the ability to ramp up and ramp down on the development work is done through consultants or contractors.

Staff who would be involved have other duties, as well.  They're not 100 percent devoted to these projects.

MR. FAYE:  Would they be 50 percent devoted to them, do you think?

MR. GREGG:  No, more than 50 percent not devoted to the projects in most cases, I would say.

MR. FAYE:  So is your staff acting more as a sort of a supervision for contract resources rather than actually performing the work themselves?

MR. GREGG:  There is some staff that does that.  Perhaps I could give you an example.

So First Nations consultation as an example on a specific project, what we've done there is we've gone out to the market and sought experts in that area to be able to sit at the consultation table, lead our actual consultation with -- for us, based on our own internal policies.

So in those situations, when we suspended these projects, we're able to just stop paying those contractors, because the work is not happening.

But the development of the internal policies, ensuring we are following those internal policies is done by staff at Hydro One.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So just to be clear, Hydro One's staff, you don't have a surplus of Hydro One staff now that you have suspended work?

MR. GREGG:  We do not.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  The costs of those staff that were going into the deferral account while the work was ongoing, where have those costs been redirected to, or are you saying that those staff are still doing what they always did and those aren't part of development costs?

MR. GREGG:  If staff, Hydro One staff, were involved in the development activities on those projects, they would be filling out time sheets, allocating the time to the project, and those costs would be going into the deferral account.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  So you see where I am going, though?  For every $100 worth of staff costs, let's, for argument's sake, say $25 of that was going to the deferral account, and now none of it is going.

So there another $25 that has to be accounted for here, and it has to be in your OM&A somewhere; am I right or –- or did you lay off staff?

MR. GREGG:  I wouldn't use the numbers, but I would I say in principle, yes, you're right.

MR. FAYE:  Are the numbers approximately right?  Is it about 25 percent of the -- for the staff that were devoted to development work, is about 25 percent of their time appropriate?

MR. GREGG:  It would vary by area, sir.

MR. FAYE:  So you don't have any feel for how much of your own staff is working on development work?

MR. GREGG:  Again, I would say it would vary by specific area that we're talking about.

MR. FAYE:  Well, for the Schedule A projects.  Is that too big an area to comment on?

MR. GREGG:  There are a number of areas underneath the Schedule A projects, be it First Nations consultation, be it environmental assessment, the initial work on environmental assessments, be it on real estate development.  All of those sub-areas is what I'm talking about.

MR. FAYE:  Well, then just so I have sort of a grasp of the magnitude here, for First Nations, for the staff that would have been doing First Nations consultations, how much percentage of their time is now redirected elsewhere?

MR. GREGG:  Approximately, again, it would vary by project too, but it would vary between 25 to 50 percent.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And for environmental assessment work, of the staff that was working on that for development projects, and now are suspended?

MR. GREGG:  Mr. McQueen tells me that they are all consultants on that area.

MR. FAYE:  All consultants?  All right.

And I think there was a third one.  I didn't have a chance to mark it down.  You said First Nations and --

MR. GREGG:  Real estate.

MR. FAYE:  Real estate?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  So that is acquisition or...

MR. GREGG:  Yes.  It's a lot of title searching.  That is all done by outside consultants.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, so --

MR. GREGG:  And most of our land agents, if you take Bruce-to-Milton as the example, it is all outsourced.

MR. FAYE:  So that would be in the same basket as your environmental assessment.  These are contracts.  They don't involve your internal staff?

MR. GREGG:  Primarily, yes.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Let's move to the contracts and consultants, then.

Ordinarily when you -- in my experience, when you hire a contractor and then you cancel his contract, there is some sort of cancellation charge.  Are you experiencing any of those costs?

MR. GREGG:  Not in my areas.  The way we've structured the contracts in the areas that I am responsible for is that there are no cancellation penalties in those.

They're basically a take-or-pay contract, that as the work is available, they are paid for that work that is done.  But as work ramps down, they're not working, not being paid.

MR. FAYE:  My understanding of take-and-pay is on your side –-

MR. GREGG:  Yes.  It is a wrong phrase.

MR. FAYE:  -- you pay whether you get it or not.

MR. GREGG:  It was the wrong phrase.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.

MR. GREGG:  But no, there are not cancellation clauses.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Are there any clauses in those contracts requiring you to pay some startup costs once you renew?  Once the project is back on, you pick up the phone, they're back to work?

MR. GREGG:  No.  Again, the nature of these contractors, most of whom are, in my area at least - maybe Mr. McQueen has different circumstances - but would have single contractors who charge hourly rates for their work.

There would really be no requirement for ramp-up or ramp-down.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thanks.

One other area that occurred to me that is a potential expense, rental office space, if you have contract employees, they must be sitting somewhere, and now they're not, do you have leased space that needs to be paid for and is sort of underused now?

MR. GREGG:  No.  Again, when we look at contractors, we seek to have contractors provide their own space for doing their work.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I will –- I'm going to leave the whole issue of CWIP to others more capable than myself.

I have only one question there.

You provided an analysis in one of the Board Staff IRs that was I-122 -- I-1-122.

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  And it brought out the conclusion that overall, ratepayers benefited on a present-value basis.

I wanted simply to ask you, in that analysis, did you account for the cost of capital of your customers at all?  Sir, is there an element in there?

MR. GREGG:  For our customers?

MR. FAYE:  Yes.  I think Mr. Crocker asked you that when you asked them to pay early, they may have to go borrow more money.  I think your response was you didn't consider that, so...

MR. GREGG:  No.  There would be no accounting for our customers' cost of capital in those figures, no.

MR. FAYE:  Am I right in thinking, then, if that was accounted for, if there was a number in there for the cost of your customers to have to come up with the extra $10 a month -- whatever it is -- would that offset the ratepayer benefits that you've concluded by your PV analysis?

MR. GREGG:  I don't believe so, sir.

I think really what we're talking about here is the recovery of funds spent over time, and it is really a shifting of the time that we recover those funds.

Rather than wait for the asset to be in-service, we're asking for it over the pre-in-service dates.

MR. FAYE:  Let me think about that a moment.

So there is a benefit to the time value of money, of advancing it.  Is there not an offsetting disadvantage to the person who has to pay that, to advancing the payment?

MR. GREGG:  Inasmuch as overall, the ratepayers are better off, through our analysis, on a lifetime basis, benefit flows to the ratepayers.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I will leave it at that.  Others are more capable in that area than I am.

Now, the rest of my prepared examination tends to focus on just three or four areas.

And the first one concerns Energy Probe Interrogatory 61.  That would be Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 61.

And you might also turn up the Board Staff 98, because some of the questions sort of cross the boundary here in between those two.

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  And Board Staff 98, the projects, as I understand them, are those critical to connection of renewable generation.

And there is a statement in your evidence that concerns a category of projects for which you are not seeking rate approval, but for which you are seeking guidance from the Board concerning the appropriateness of the need, the proposed solution and the recoverability of the project cost.

And that is your answer to part (b) of our interrogatory.  We asked you:  If the project need is uncertain, how can the Board approve it in the present proceeding?  You said:  Well, we're looking for guidance only.

And so I am going to phrase the question slightly differently than our IR.

If the OPA hasn't reported to the minister on whether the project is appropriate, what sort of guidance are you expecting from the Board?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.  If I can take that one, this notion of category 3 was established in the previous rate filing.  So these are projects which have significant expenditures in the test years, but are not necessarily in-service in the test years.

So for those class of projects, we like to advise the Board that these projects are on the list and that they have significant expenditures, and allow the Board and intervenors to question or to, you know, ask for further information about these projects.

MR. FAYE:  But these are some of the projects that the OPA is presently developing advice to the minister on; am I right there?

MR. YOUNG:  Are you referring specifically to project D 8?

MR. FAYE:  Yes.  Take D 8 as an example, then.

MR. YOUNG:  By this time in our discussions with the OPA, they are reviewing this project.

They presently don't see a need at this point in time for this project.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Then I come back to my main -- my first question.

If the OPA hasn't advised you or the minister on the appropriateness of the need, the proposed solution and the recoverability of the project costs, on what basis do you expect the Board to be able to render any guidance on those matters?

MR. YOUNG:  At the time of the filing, there was --discussions on this project were still going on.  So we included it in this filing.

But subsequent to that, this project is, from our perspective, deferred until such time as the OPA can advise if there is a need for this project.

MR. FAYE:  And would the same be true of the other category 3 projects for which you are looking for guidance from the Board on?

MR. YOUNG:  Some of those category 3 projects are load connection projects.  So those are customer-driven.  The customers have come to us and are seeking additional connection facilities, and so work needs to begin on them in the test years, though they don't come in service necessarily in the test years.

MR. FAYE:  So what sort of guidance would you be looking for the Board to provide on them?

MR. YOUNG:  Appropriateness of the expenditure levels for the particular projects that are involved.

MR. FAYE:  Do you have a procedure within the Transmission System Code for connecting new customers or connecting generators, as well?

MR. YOUNG:  We have a connection procedure, yes, we do.

MR. FAYE:  And whenever you get one of those type of customers wanting connected, do you have to come to the Board to get their guidance on it, or is there a set procedure with capital contribution-type analysis done?  I am unfamiliar with you coming to the Board asking, Can we connect a generator?

MR. YOUNG:  By including it in the rate filing, we inform the Board of the overall expenditures that we will be seeking.  So that's the primary reason that this is being included.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, I understand that.  You are keeping the Board apprised of developments.  You are not asking for some sort of a preapproval to go and spend the money.  You are going to spend the money, anyway?

MR. YOUNG:  Assuming that we get a -- and I'm speaking with load connection projects.  Assuming we have a customer cost recovery agreement, yes.

MR. FAYE:  What other kind of projects should I be asking you about?  Assuming they were the type of project you just mentioned -- what if they're not that type of project?

MR. YOUNG:  Well, they could be projects in the inter-area category, although we don't have any in this filing.

MR. FAYE:  And when you say "inter-area", what do you mean?

MR. YOUNG:  They could be for network reinforcements.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, inter-area reliability.  All right, thank you for that.

The next question has to do with Energy Probe 63.  That would be Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 63.

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, I have it.

MR. FAYE:  Do you have that up?  This one concerns some work that you plan to do on projects D12 and D13, and those are Leaside and Manby transformer stations.  And it has to do with improving your short circuit capability.

We asked you, Could you improve the short circuit capability without doing the ancillary work that you propose to do on this project, some of which I understood to be switches and the like?

Your response was, yes, you could -- this would be in part (b).  The response was you could improve the short circuit capability by just upgrading the circuit breakers, but that you were going to go ahead and do this other stuff anyway, because it was aging and required a replacement.

Now, in Board Staff 113 -- and that would probably be useful to turn up just so that I don't misquote you.  If you go to the bottom of page 2 of that response to I-1-113, there is some analysis of the reliability and performance of the circuit breakers.

And I am looking quickly for the statement that -- go to page 6, please, at line 12.  At this point, you provided some analysis on how much extra it is going to cost to advance this work, and then you say at line 12:
"Within 7 to 8 years, the large majority of breakers within the switchyards will be at or beyond end of life..."


And would have to be replaced, anyway.  So I am assuming that without this need to improve short circuit capability, it would be another seven to eight years before you would go in and routinely replace that aging equipment.  Is that a fair assumption?

MR. YOUNG:  Well, you have to remember that there is a number of facilities here, so that the refurbishment work needs to be staged over a period of time.  So what we have identified here is that the advancement work is really, on average, only in the five-year time frame.

Some of these we have to start replacing within the next year or two so that we can, in a planned and programmed fashion, replace the necessary components which are at end of life.

MR. FAYE:  But the motivation to do it now is short circuit availability, isn't it?

MR. YOUNG:  Some degree of advancement is related to needing to bring the station up to short circuit levels, more in line with what's in the Transmission System Code.

Presently, the short circuit levels are very near or right at their maximum capabilities, which means it not only limits our ability to connect any additional generation in this area, but it also has potential impacts on our future operations when we try to make modifications even to the transmission system.

The fact that there is a lot of generation that is seeking to connect as a result of the FIT program is now -- in terms of incrementally creeping up the short circuit levels.

In the extreme, any one generator in the province impacts every single point on the system.  I mean, it is one system.  So even with generators connecting in places which one would normally think are further away and would not have that impact, collectively they all have a very small amount, and so that is what we refer to as "creep".

So when you get to the point where once the facilities are completely maxed out, then it really inhibits our ability to operate and make changes to the network.

So there is that component, and, of course, the main component is the end-of-life driver.

MR. FAYE:  Can we just quickly look at Exhibit D1-3-3, appendix A, page 3.

That is D1, tab 3, schedule 3, appendix A, page 3.

MR. YOUNG:  Table 3?

MR. FAYE:  Table 3.

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, I have that.

MR. FAYE:  This is where I got the impression that this project was for short circuit capability, because in the investment description on D12, it says "Toronto area station upgrades for short circuit capability, Leaside TS."  And D13 says the same for Manby.

So I sort of drew the conclusion that you wanted to upgrade your short circuit capability there.  It doesn't say anything about end of life here.  And then in the response to Board Staff, you said there is seven or eight more years of life in this stuff.

So I am trying to reconcile those two with your statement now that this is end of life type of replacement.

MR. YOUNG:  If I can direct you to the individual summary description for the project, and this is in Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 3, and if you look at the D11 reference, and also the D12 and D13, you will find that in there it speaks to the end-of-life issues with respect to the Hearn, and as well as the Leaside and Manby stations.

MR. FAYE:  What page should I be looking at on that?

MR. YOUNG:  Unfortunately, there is no page number, but if you -- they are in sequence.  So if you refer to Investment Summary Description D11.

MR. FAYE:  Well...

MR. YOUNG:  You will find the description there describes the end-of-life situation.  The station is built in the early '50s.  It also talks, of course, of short circuit.  But essentially this station is at end of life.

So we would be proceeding to rebuild the station, you know, the short circuit issue aside.

MR. FAYE:  I can't seem to come up with that, but perhaps I will leave that for the moment and come back to it when I find it.

So the description that we see on this table 3 on Exhibit D1, 3, 3, appendix A, that description is not correct?  You are not looking to upgrade for short circuit capability at all?  You have to rebuild the station?

MR. YOUNG:  It is doing both.

MR. FAYE:  Doing both?  So how much of one and how much of the other?

MR. YOUNG:  When we -- naturally by replacing the end-of-life breakers, we would be replacing them with standard-size breakers, which would allow us to operate at the higher short circuit level.

This is very difficult to say what proportion is at end-of-life or what proportion is at, you know, for short circuit.  It is kind of all integrated.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Let me ask it this way, then.

You have a number of breakers in that yard that are in this situation; they can't carry the short circuit that you want them to do.  They're also getting pretty old.

How many breakers are there?

MR. YOUNG:  At the Leaside station?  There are 28.

MR. FAYE:  Twenty-eight.  And how many of those get replaced per year on this project?

MR. YOUNG:  We are proposing to replace all 28 in the next -- over the next two years.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So let's go back to the seven to eight years of remaining life in Board Staff IR 122.

And I thought I heard you say that you really have to stage this work; you can't do it all in one year.  So it's going to take you maybe five years.  Now I hear it is going to take you two years.

So you really could wait five years, couldn't you?  You have seven or eight years left, right?  On average?

MR. YOUNG:  But not all the breakers are at exactly seven-year or eight-year end-of-life.

There is a range, and so some of the breakers will have to be replaced as early as the next year or the year after.

MR. FAYE:  Yes.  That is what I took from the statement that "on average, seven to eight," meaning some were less than seven and eight --

MR. YOUNG:  On average, about five -- on average, the advancement is five years.

The latest that we could possibly wait to replace some of these breakers are in seven to eight years.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So your worst ones --

MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  -- are seven to eight.  And your best ones are what?  Two?

MR. YOUNG:  Two.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Then somewhere in the middle, there is this five?

MR. YOUNG:  That's right.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. YOUNG:  For the purposes of that evaluation, we averaged it to five.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Now, along with the breakers, you are going to be replacing a bunch of ancillary equipment, it seems.  And what I wanted to ask is:  How much of the total cost is associated with replacing the other equipment, not related to short circuit capability?

MR. YOUNG:  All of the facilities identified for this project are related to the breaker replacement, so these are all of the auxiliary facilities associated with it, whether it is to replace the potential transformers or the current transformers associated with the new breakers, or whether you need to have minor bus modifications to fit in the new breakers.

This is the other auxiliary or associated facilities that are discussed here.

And they need to be done at the same time as the breakers, in order to be able to put in the new breakers.

The existing breakers are oil circuit breakers.  They're much bigger.  They're a completely different design.

The new breakers that we are proposing to put in are SF6 breakers, different physical configurations.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  How should I understand your answer to part (b) of I-2-63 -- I will read it.  It says:
"However, all the other auxiliary components associated with the breakers, such as disconnect switches, instrument transformers and insulators, are also aging and require replacement."

And that is as a qualifier to your statement that you could improve short circuit capability without replacing all that other stuff?

MR. YOUNG:  And all of that other stuff is also at end-of-life, because they were put in roughly at the same time period as when these breakers were put in.

MR. FAYE:  So all of that other stuff ranges from -- in the order of seven to eight years of life left in it, too?

MR. YOUNG:  Approximately.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  And is it fair to say that that stuff has a life of about 35 to 40 years?  Same as the breakers?

MR. YOUNG:  Typically.  These breakers are -- have a typical life of somewhere between 35 and 55 years.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  So if I divide one by the other, seven over 35 is 20 percent.

And I will tell you what my concern is.

I understand completely your need for more short circuit availability if you are going to have generators on your line, but because it is expedient to replace other equipment at the same time, because you are going to be there, the equipment that could last another seven to eight years, I am concerned if that theme runs through all of your projects, that you have one main reason to be doing a project, but since you are going to be there, we might as well scrap all this equipment that has 20 years or 20 percent of its life left in it and not have to go back later.

Is that an unfair characterization of your project?

MR. YOUNG:  I would think so.  I mean, for sure the Hearn station is at end-of-life, and we need to replace the entire station.  It is not just a few components here or a few components there.

So we would proceed with the Hearn project.

For the Leaside and Manby, yes, there is some degree of advancement.  We don't believe it is a lot.

If you look at the response to the interrogatory that you referred to, I-1, Board Staff I-1-113?

MR. FAYE:  Yes.

MR. YOUNG:  You will note that the advancement component for this project only represents five and six million dollars of the total project costs.

So given -- I mean, taking everything as a whole, we need to do significant end-of-life refurbishment work on the station.  There is a strong desire to provide additional generation in this area.

And also recognizing that, you know, this work needs to be coordinated, and also recognizing that once we get into 2015 -- as provided in this IR response -- that once the Pan Am Games, once we have to prepare for the Pan Am Games in 2015, scheduling that work will be very, very difficult.

So on balance, we believe that it makes good planning sense to begin the work now.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  A couple of final little points.

Still on Board Staff 113, under the reliability and performance analysis on page 2, there is an explanation around why these breakers need replacement, because they're not performing very good.

But there is nothing in there about disconnect switches failing or instrument transformers failing or protection and control systems failing that are associated with those breakers.

And I wonder if you've had any experience at those stations of those components failing.

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, we have.

MR. FAYE:  And can you give us a little information on the frequency of those failures and the consequences?

MR. YOUNG:  I don't have that information with me at the moment, but certainly the -- you know, similar to the breakers at the stations, there have been failures and poor performance of various -- of the facilities associated with the breakers.

MR. FAYE:  So you're saying that when you open your disconnect switch, it arcs and fails?  That's what's been happening?

MR. YOUNG:  There has been -- there has been some failure of the disconnect switches.  Whether it is issues of the insulators, issues of the mechanical box associated with the motors for the disconnect switch, you know, those would be the types of breakdowns or failures associated with those facilities.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And I guess the one last question I have is:  Since this stuff doesn't appear to last 35 years that you expected it to, have you adjusted your maintenance to address this?

MR. YOUNG:  The average age of these breakers at both the stations are well over -- are between 45 and 49 years old.

MR. FAYE:  No.  I'm sorry, I was talking about the ancillary equipment, the disconnect switches and the transformers.

MR. YOUNG:  They're also of similar vintage.

MR. FAYE:  They're the origin installation with the breaker.  They haven't been replaced since?

MR. YOUNG:  Some have been.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I think I'm going to leave it, because I think I have enough of an understanding on that.

My next questions all apply to -- it's a common question that runs through about six or seven of our IRs, and they are numbers 72 to 78.  That is Exhibit I-2-72 through I-2-78.  It all has to do with the development costs.

Pardon me, I covered this when I asked you on the follow-up questions to AMPCO.  That one I have covered.

I think those are all of my questions.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Faye.  Do we have somebody next who has a block of questions that are about 25 minutes long?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman -- oh, okay.  Over to you, Mike.

MR. BUONAGURO:  He saw me.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, I think I can go.  Thank you.  Good afternoon, panel.

I wanted to quickly follow up on some of the cross that occurred this morning and this afternoon, just to make sure I understood a very small point.

Actually, I was going to pull this up on the screen for you with my computer, but I am not set up for that.  But I don't think it is worthwhile spending the time to do it now.  I can probably rely on Board Staff if they want to pull it up.

I am looking at Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 103.  It is a Board Staff interrogatory.

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And this is in relation to the lengthy cross you already had on development versus -- development projects and Schedule A projects that you're not doing work on anymore.

So my understanding from what I heard today is that if you look at this table 1, "Summary of Major Green Projects", which I believe are all projects that are referred to as Schedule A projects, the development work on all of these projects, whether it is under the first category, which says "development work is underway", or the second category where "development work will begin once the OPA confirms project need", or the third category where it says "projects where development work is not planned in the test years", development work on all of these projects has stopped as of right now?  I think that's what you said.

MR. GREGG:  That's correct, Schedule A projects.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And they won't start again until somebody tells you to start, in a simple way of putting it?

MR. GREGG:  After the OPA responds to the minister's request, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  The one little caveat I wanted to clear up, on the same interrogatory response, it says -- this is page 2:
"The spending in the test years for these projects is summarized in Table 4 on page 37 of the exhibit, which is also provided below."


And you see table 4 there, and it has test year spending for 2011-2012, for two projects, the Northwest Transmission Reinforcement Project and the Algoma x Sudbury Transmission Expansion.  Do you see that?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My understanding of the reason that that table is in there is that those are -- those amounts of spending show up in the revenue requirement one way or another.  Is that true?

MR. GREGG:  Yes, that's correct.  No?  Well, maybe let me consult.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. ROGERS:  I wonder if my friend would permit me to answer the question.  I'm instruction - and the witnesses can correct me if I'm wrong - that these are not in the present rate application.  They will be subject to section 92 applications, and I think it is contemplated at that time that accelerated CWIP will be requested.

MR. GREGG:  That's correct.

MS. LEA:  You will find the answer on the record at Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 120, Board Staff 120, answer (c).

We understood it was contingent on the approval of accelerated CWIP application.

MR. GREGG:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Is it also contingent on
-- my confusion is that these two projects are listed in the group of Schedule A projects which you say you are not doing any development work on.

So is it also contingent on the go-ahead on those projects?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So it is contingent and contingent.

MR. GREGG:  Yes, double contingency.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you, I just wanted to clear that up.

I would like to work off of one of our IRs for a little bit.  I am looking at Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 29.

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And mostly pages 2 and 3.

And I think this is an IR response that VECC has asked for in the last transmission case and also in the last Hydro One distribution case, which -- my understanding is it simply shows the difference between the applied-for amounts for the application for each of the subcategories, both in OM&A and capital, for the two test years, and what is referred to as the minimum level of spending that is part of your planning process for those same years?

MR. GREGG:  Yes, I believe that is what it is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

My understanding is that if I have any grandiose lines of questioning with respect to the planning process, that I would take that to a different panel?

MR. GREGG:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. GREGG:  Panel 2, I believe, would be best able to respond.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  I can tell you I am trying to avoid that.  I have done it I think three times now.

Can I tell you -- but I understand that obviously you work within this planning process when you are developing, for example, for this panel the development capital and OM&A?

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And would it be fair to say that the actual process hasn't changed much in over the last few years?

MR. GREGG:  The process of using the minimum level 1, level 2 approach?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. GREGG:  No, it hasn't changed.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you for that.

Now, just looking at -- we will start with the OM&A table which is at page 2.  And my understanding is that this panel is mostly restricted to the small area between development and total development.  That is what I am supposed to be asking about; right?

MR. GREGG:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the same for capital.

But presumably you have an understanding generally of how it works throughout?

MR. GREGG:  Generally, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, we've talked about the updating of the application as of May 13th, and that is with respect to Exhibit I, tab 3, schedule 1, attachment 1, which is the letter which sets out the changes that were made just prior to filing?

MR. GREGG:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, would I be correct, then, to say that when I look at the filed amounts for 2011 and the filed amounts for 2012 -- well, certainly I think the total transmission OM&A, for example, reconciles to that letter when it says -- so, for example, in this exhibit it says total transmission OM&A $436.3 million, which I think is comparable to that letter, which talks about $436 million in transmission OM&A?

MR. GREGG:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So is it fair to say, then, that when we look at the subcategories down the line here through sustaining, through development, through shared service, other costs, the whole thing, this is a snapshot of what the filing looked like as of May 13th, 2010 after you have made -- after the company made the adjustments pursuant to the request from the minister?

MR. GREGG:  I believe so, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, my understanding - and I will try to keep this more specific to the development - my understanding from the description in that letter from the minister -- sorry, not from the letter from the minister, but rather the letter to the minister describing the changes, that a large amount of the changes came in sustaining.  So for example, if you look at the letter, it talks about approximately $19 million in reductions to the transmission OM&A?

MR. GREGG:  In 2011, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And my understanding is that the bulk of that came from sustaining?  Based on the description in the letter.

MR. GREGG:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You can refer to that if you like.

MR. GREGG:  19 million in OM&A and sustaining in '11, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can you tell me off the top of your head if any of the amounts came from development?  Any of the adjustments, for example, of the 19 million would have come out of these line items under development?

MR. GREGG:  No.  It was all sustainment.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

I think also a small part of it referred to the compensation freeze.  We can turn back to the exhibit, but I think you know what I'm talking about.

MR. GREGG:  I believe so, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But I don't think that –- well, maybe you can explain to me how that would flow through in this table, how that would have been deducted on a line-by-line basis, or how -- what kind of adjustment would have been made.

MR. GREGG:  I think when it comes to the line-by-line basis, it is probably better handled by either panel 2 -- but if you are talking about compensation, perhaps even panel 3.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, okay.  Perhaps I can try this.  Well, maybe I will ask you first.

So we talk about this being current as of May 13th.  That suggests to me at some point prior to that -- and presumably prior to May 7th -- there was an original as-filed or original proposed filing amounts for each category for 2011 and 2012, which we can maybe add to this table.

I was wondering if I could ask for the company to do that as an undertaking.

I suspect, for example, in the OM&A, most of the changes would be in the sustaining, as we've talked about.  But it would show where the sustaining, the 19 or so million dollars, would have come out of each category or which category would have come out of --

MR. GREGG:  I think most of the information you're looking for, sir, is probably best found in IR I-1-38, if I recall, where on page 2 of 3 we go through the redactions.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So I can map that table onto this information to show the difference between -- between the two filings?

Mr. Gregg:  I believe that would be accurate, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  That is helpful.

Is there an equivalent IR response on the capital side, to show the variation in the capital from -- between May 7th and May 13th?

MR. GREGG:  I don't believe there was any change in capital.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, my understanding is that the applied-for capital budgets for 2011 and 2012 were both reduced.  And if we look at I-3-1, attachment 1...

MR. GREGG:  Sorry, you said I-3-1?

MR. BUONAGURO:  So that's the CME interrogatory that's been referred to several times, which gives an executive summary of the changes between the original proposed filing and what actually was filed.

And in particular, I am looking at table 1.

MR. GREGG:  Sorry, can you give me the number again?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  Exhibit I, 3-1, attachment 1.  I think I have written it down properly.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. BUONAGURO:  It is CME Interrogatory No. 1, the attachment.

MR. GREGG:  Give us -- you're referring to the May 13th memo?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So if you look at table 1 on the attachment, and it has 2011 original capital expenditures of 1,263.  And then proposed 2011 capital expenditures are 1152.  It showed that –- basically, showing a reduction in capital expenditures within the test year, and the same for 2012.  Do you see that?

MR. GREGG:  Yes, I do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And what I would like to see –- and if it is not possible, you could maybe explain to me why that would be the case -- where those reductions in capital spending would have showed up on this minimum-level spending table.

So next to the filed level, which is the current filing, where the line-item reductions in capital spending would have occurred here.

MR. GREGG:  I think... the explanation for the capital spending adjustment, I believe, is that in-service date adjustments were made prior to this memo being written, that showed a number of major projects resulting in a reduction in rate base.

But I believe -- I believe that is also talked about on page 3 of the same memo.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. GREGG:  Paragraph 3.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

But my understanding is that that would show up on the second line of table 1 –- or, sorry, the line below "capital expenditures."

So looking at table 1, it shows the reduction in rate base.  So there is a reduction, I think, in the -- between the original 2011 and the proposed 2011, there is a reduction of 400 -- around $404 million in rate base, which I -- I understand what you're saying.

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That is a result of deferring in-service dates.

MR. GREGG:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But right above that, it actually talks about a reduction in the capital expenditures in the year.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Chairman, sorry to interrupt, but can I volunteer to undertake to provide this information to my friend?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  I think it can be done.  It just needs -- someone has to analyze it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's fine.

MS. LEA:  Perhaps it is best to have a brief statement of the undertaking, please, Mr. Rogers.  It will be undertaking J2.2.

MR. ROGERS:  As I understand it, the undertaking is to provide an explanation for the change in the capital expenditures from -- shown on table 1 of the May 13th, 2010 memo.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I think you can add:  With specific reference to the different categories of spending, capital spending shown on Exhibit I-4-29, page 3.

That will be very helpful.  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  TO PROVIDE EXPLANATION FOR CHANGE IN CAPITAL EXPENDITURES SHOWN ON TABLE 1 OF MAY 13TH, 2010 MEMO, WITH SPECIFIC REFERENCE TO DIFFERENT CATEGORIES OF CAPITAL SPENDING SHOWN ON EXHIBIT I-4-29, PAGE 3.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So turning back to the OM&A section of that table, I think it was already discussed on the development side, which is what you're ostensibly here for today, there were no -- there were no what I would call original reductions before filing?

MR. GREGG:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  On the basis of the minister's direction.

And I just wanted to ask you a couple of questions about the specific line items in terms of the relationship to minimum-level.

I see, for example, that under "IPSP development projects" the OM&A spending between filed and minimum-level is static, i.e., they're both 33.7 --

MR. GREGG:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- million dollars?

MR. GREGG:  Okay.  And which -- I have so many pages open.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  I-4-29.  I-4-29.

MR. GREGG:  I-4-29.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Page 2.

MR. GREGG:  Yes, back to that one.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If I were connected to the system, you would see it on the screen, like, instantaneously.

MR. GREGG:  Thank you.  Thank you.  Here it is; it's on the screen.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, there it is.

So I saw that, well, for both IPSP development projects and smart grid, they're static, so 33.7 for both filed and minimum-level, then 4 million for both filed and minimum-level?

MR. GREGG:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Am I to take that to mean that you've applied for spending in those two categories on the basis of your minimum-level spending?

MR. YOUNG:  Peter...

MR. GREGG:  Go ahead.

MR. YOUNG:  I believe on this interrogatory response, there is a typo.  The figures for what's filed for that "IPSP development project" category, as you can see, are identical to that minimum.

These are incorrect.

The development OM&A, the correct numbers are in the Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 4.  And if you look at table 1, that will provide the correct totals for the government instruction/IPSP-related development work.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I wonder if we could get an undertaking to redo that table --

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- to reflect the correction that Mr. Young has told us?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MS. LEA:  J2.3, correction of the table occurring -- now of course I've forgotten the interrogatory number, but is it the CME interrogatory?

MR. BUONAGURO:  No.  It is I-4-29.

MS. LEA:  I-4-29.  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3:  TO PROVIDE CORRECTION TO I-24-29.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't have that exhibit open in front of me, but do you have the number handy?

MR. YOUNG:  It is -- for 2011 it is 35.7 -- oh, did you want the exhibit reference or the...

MR. BUONAGURO:  No.  That's fine.  We are getting the undertaking.  While we are talking, I can tell, from what you just told me, the filed amount was 35.7 for '11 and --

MR. YOUNG:  46.7 for '12.

MR. BUONAGURO:  46.7 for '12.  So there would be a difference between the filed and minimum level?

MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  How about for smart grid?

MR. YOUNG:  Smart grid is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you are filing on the basis of what you believe to be the minimum level based on your approach to planning?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.  It is 4 million in each of the test years.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, if I could turn to capital spending, which is on page 3 of the same exhibit, I-4-29, again I am going to restrict myself to the development side and understanding that we are going to get an updated version of this which will show the variance between this filed and what I will call the original filed amount.

You will notice a lot of interesting things, in the sense that the difference between what was filed for on the development side and what is considered to be the minimum level spending is a negative number.

And I was wondering if we could chat about that for a second.  It looks like you are filing on the basis of capital spending which is well below what you are saying your minimum level spending in that category is, and I have to think you have an explanation for that.

MR. YOUNG:  The minimum spending category, or the column, represents, in the stakeholdering session, projects which we deem to be minimum.  And "minimum" meant projects essentially which are non-discretionary.

Since the stakeholdering session and with the update with the May filing, a number of the green projects, if you will, were adjusted.  Essentially, some of the projects were delayed and some of the cash flows were adjusted and deferred, which makes up the lower expenditure levels that you see in 2011 and in 2012.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Ah-hah.  Thank you for that.  So if I can restate it to you to make sure I understand, when we're looking at minimum level spending in this table for the capital, at least certainly for development capital, it sounds like what you're telling me is that is a point-in-time minimum level, i.e., at the point in time when the minimum level was characterized --

MR. YOUNG:  Was established, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  That was the minimum level based on an assumption, or at least evidence of requirement that you had to do certain projects in certain time frames, and that has changed in some categories significantly since then?

MR. YOUNG:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Which, I don't mean to put it harshly, but doesn't that mean for my purposes this representation of minimum level is somewhat useless?

MR. YOUNG:  I think for the development category, I think it provides you some indicative levels, but there have been adjustments.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So if we go back to the filed levels for minimum level -- hmm... -- that means that -- well, does that mean that for some of these categories the development capital spending, as in the "filed" column, there would be a new point-in-time minimum level in respect of that spending?

So, for example, if we looked at - I am just picking one at random - generation connections for 2012 of 360 -- sorry, 36 million.  My copy is a little odd.  Is that 36 million or 360 million?  Thirty-six million.  I believe it is 36 million.

The minimum level for that category, if you were to run it today, might be something -- well, it would certainly be something different than 37.4 million?

I am not asking you to commit to it.  I am just saying is that potentially the case within any of these categories?

MR. YOUNG:  Certainly that is potentially the case in some of these categories.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. YOUNG:  On that specific one, I am struggling a little bit with that one.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I wasn't asking you to, off the top of your head, tell me what the minimum level for -- the new current minimum level for that category was.  I just wanted to make sure I understood what the situation is today.

Does the company have -- how would I phrase this?  How current is the minimum level spending presentation of the company at any point in time?

I understand, for the purposes of answering this interrogatory, you would have gone back to a certain presentation of minimum level.  Has that presentation of minimum level been updated?

MR. GREGG:  It may be a question that is best handled when we get to panel 2.  They can get into a much more fulsome discussion about the minimum level 1, level 2 and when those are updated.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, I will take that point down.

But from the perspective of the panel addressing development capital, it seems to me that I am in the position of having, from your point of view, the -- I have got two things.

I've got the filed capital spending for development.  I have what is clearly an outdated version of the minimum level spending, and I believe I am going to get a slightly different filed capital spending for development based on the original filing.  But I don't have what the actual minimum level spending would be now, based on changes in requirements with respect to certain capital projects

I don't have that summary, do I?

MR. YOUNG:  Maybe perhaps this will help.  In the -- for all of the development capital projects that we've identified, we've deemed them all to be non-discretionary.  So in a sense, that represents the minimum level.

So the filing that we have before you now represents, for development capital only, the minimum level expenditure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So when you deem it to be non-discretionary, how far does that go?  I.e., does that mean that you actually have specific direction for those projects, for all of them that are included in this particular representation?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.  They are projects which have already been approved in other proceedings, or whether they're government-directed type projects, or whether we have agreements, cost recovery agreements, with our customers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I just want to dig into that a little bit.  When you say "approved", are you saying that is necessary and sufficient to mean that it is required?

I mean, you could agree with me you could have approval for a project, but it may not be a necessary project within the test period.  That is at least a possibility?

MR. YOUNG:  That's not how we have interpreted that.  When I say "approved", these are either Board-approved projects either from a previous rate filing or from a leave to construct proceeding.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I just want to make sure I am not -- when you say -- it seems to me what you're saying is when the Board approves a project, that means you must do it, or when you have leave to do a project, that means you must do it.  Is that how you interpret it?

MR. YOUNG:  Whether it is in a...

If the project is approved in a rate filing, we would assume that the Board approved us to do that project.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I know they approved you to do the project, but that...

Well, my belief would be -- is that whether or not you can do a project, doesn't necessarily mean that you have to do a project.  I am just trying to see -- it sounds to me like those two concepts, approval to do a project and having to do a project, it seems to me that you're saying they're one and the same.

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.  We wouldn't be seeking for approval.

MR. GREGG:  If need has been established for the project -- need has to be established to receive approval from this Board -- then there is obviously a need to complete the project.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So I guess this goes back to some of what Mr. Warren was talking about, in terms of your planning criteria.  You don't come forward with a project unless somebody is making you do it?

MR. GREGG:  Not making us do it.  But in consultation with the OPA, in helping us establish need, that would...

MR. YOUNG:  Or if a customer is requesting us to do a particular project.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you very much for those answers.

I am going to leave this.  I have about -- I think it is about 10 minutes left.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, continue.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  A short 10 minutes left.

[Laughter.]

MR. BUONAGURO:  Even with the 10 minutes, I think I am the second-shortest of the day, so there is that.

I am going to refer to Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 3, appendix A, page 2.  So again, that is D1, tab 3, schedule 3, Appendix A, page 2.

This is table 2, and it is called:  "Inter-area network transfer capability, summary of development capital projects in excess of $3 million."

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, I have it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, my understanding is that that this table lists the spending on major development projects regarding inter-area transfer capability, and that the eight projects listed account for all but $2.6 million of the over $400 million in spending over 2011 and 2012 in that category; is that correct?

MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And would it be fair to say that the main driver behind all eight of these projects is to allow for the incorporation of additional generation into the system?

MR. YOUNG:  That would be correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And is it also fair to say that the generation concerned is either the nuclear wind -- nuclear and/or wind generation in the Bruce area, or additional wind or hydraulic generation in northern Ontario?

MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And would you also -- fair to say these drivers are pretty much the same as what we saw in the last proceeding for inter-area transfer spending?  For 2009-2010 rates?

MR. YOUNG:  Could you clarify on what you mean by "the same"?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am saying that the drivers for inter-area transfer spending that we're seeing with respect to these projects are essentially the same types of drivers that we were seeing the last time you came forward with inter-area transfer spending requests for projects.

MR. YOUNG:  For the same projects which have appeared in both proceedings?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am just saying generally.  The drivers for this type of spending is, in these two, the last -- in these two rate cases are generally the same.

MR. YOUNG:  It could be for -- certainly it would be for facilitating new generation and connecting them and delivering them.

But this particular driver could potentially also be for expansion of interconnection facilities, or for just increasing network transfer capability for the benefit of ratepayers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. YOUNG:  Those types of projects would also fall in this driver.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, looking at the table, the first four projects –- sorry, the first five projects are listed as category 1, which means or which we understand to mean they have been approved, based on your definition of category 1?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, they have been approved in either a leave-to-construct or a previous proceeding, rate filing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

And that the approval for the D 1 project, which is the Bruce-to-Milton, is a Section 92 review?  I think that is correct?

MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And for the other four, the approval would have been approval within the last proceeding?

MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And for the last four projects, three of them are listed as category 2, which means you are seeking approval in this proceeding for the projects to be included in rate base?

MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And for each of those three projects, there is written confirmation for the OPA, supporting the need in the project as the proposed solution?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.  The OPA has provided additional evidence for those three projects.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I believe you actually spoke -- I think it was with Mr. Faye -- about the TS shunt capacitor bank project, project D8.

You said that the OPA right now sees no need for that project?

MR. YOUNG:  That's right.  So we are not proceeding with that at this time.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

Turning to D1, tab 3, schedule 3, appendix A, so the same general area, but page 7.

This lists the spending on bulk and regional supply for 2011 and 2012, and the two projects noted account for all of the proposed spending; is that correct?

MR. YOUNG:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, we understand the projects are rated as category 4, which do not affect the revenue requirement for 2011 and 2012; right?

MR. YOUNG:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But I just wanted to confirm whether or not the spending on these two projects is also driven by the need to make provision for the incorporation of new wind and hydro resources in northern Ontario into the system.

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I believe you spoke with Mr. Crocker about the D35, which is the Little Jackfish-to-Pickle Lake, or Pickle Lake-to-Nipigon project?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. GREGG:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And also the particular part of that, which I think I said first, the Little Jackfish-to-Pickle Lake section of that project, at least in part, is aimed at connecting load at the end of that line?  To mines, in particular?

MR. GREGG:  In part, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Now, when the... when the OPA gives you recommendation for this particular project, will the OPA be commenting on this last part of the line?  Or is it the first part of the line, the actual Pickle Lake-to-Nipigon section which the OPA will be commenting on the need for?

MR. GREGG:  We don't know what they will be commenting on at this point.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Thank you.

And lastly, Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 3, appendix A, so the same again, but page 8.  
Here you are listing the spending on station upgrades and additions to facilitate renewables.

Can you confirm that all the spending in this category is driven by the need to address transmission capacity constraints, so as to allow the connection of renewable generation in certain areas of the province?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And we note that two of the projects, D37 and D38, come into service within the 2011-2012 test period and are listed as category 2, which means you are seeking approval to include them in rate base?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But we note that from Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 3, our reading of that is that from projects -– that projects D37 and D38, as of the time of the application, had no recommendation or confirmation from the OPA; is that fair?

MR. YOUNG:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Has there been any communication from the OPA since then?

MR. YOUNG:  No.  But at the time of the filing, we had not assessed the FIT projects, the transmission-connected FIT projects which were issued contracts.

Since that time, out of 36 projects which were issued contracts, 31 have come to Hydro One/IESO to initiate the connection assessment process.

And upon review of those projects, it's been identified that, very likely, one of the inline breakers will be required in the test years.  Another one is quite a possibility, but it is not far enough in the assessment point to confirm that at this time.

We have also confirmed that another in-line breaker project will be required for these FIT projects in 2013.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. YOUNG:  So the estimate of -- so we conservatively took an estimate of two out of the seven for inclusion in the test years, and our experience now with the FIT projects which have been issued contracts have beared that out.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  
Is that to say that you believe that the OPA will, in a timely fashion, give you the indication of the need, or are you saying that you don't need them?

MR. YOUNG:  For these, the generators are coming.  They have contracts.  They need to be connected.  These in-line facilities are required in certain circumstances in order to connect those projects.  So as a requirement of our transmission licence, we have to connect these generators.  So in that situation, we don't necessarily need the OPA to confirm.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Are you asking, then, the Board to approve these projects?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes, we are.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.
Procedural Matters:


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.

It would seem that on Thursday we will get to panel number 2.  Mr. Shepherd, you are shaking your head.  How long do you expect to be with this panel?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I anticipate I will be between two and three hours.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  I would say about an hour and a half, sir, maybe a little bit longer.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Aiken?

MR. AIKEN:  I expect to be ten to 15 minutes with this panel.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That is encouraging.  Mr. Long?

MR. LONG:  Likely ten minutes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. KIDANE:  This is Bayu Kidane, consultant for the Power Workers' Union.  I have just been advised by Mr. Stephenson that he will need something like 45 minutes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, that sounds like we won't get to panel 2.

MS. LEA:  Then there is me.

[Laughter]

MS. LEA:  I started out with an hour, but it is rapidly diminishing.  I am at half an hour now.  It might be zero by the time we get there, but we will see.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  So, Mr. Rogers, that is of some assistance to you.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, it is.  Thank you.

I will try to -- I will encourage my friends to try to consolidate things.  We will have panel 2 ready to go in the afternoon, if necessary.  We won't have them here in the morning, but they will be on standby.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Very good.

Thanks to the -- do you have any redirect, Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS: No, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You will wait until the conclusion of the rest of the cross-examinations.

You will be coming back on Thursday for more of the same, and we will adjourn until 9:30 on Thursday.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:46 p.m.
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